UiT

THE ARCTIC UNIVERSITY OF NORWAY

Venous thromboembolism: incidence, recurrence and mortality

Nadia Arshad

May 2018

A dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Clinical Medicine



Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	. 3
Lists of papers	. 5
Summary	. 6
Abbreviations	. 7
1. Introduction	. 9
1.1 Venous thromboembolism	. 9
1.2 Pathogenesis of venous thromboembolism	11
1.3 Epidemiology of incident venous thromboembolism	12
1.3.1 Venous thromboembolism in the general population	12
1.3.2 Time-trends in incidence rates of venous thromboembolism	13
1.3.3 Classification of venous thromboembolism	14
1.3.4 Risk factors for venous thromboembolism	15
1.4 Recurrence of venous thromboembolism	23
1.4.1 Epidemiology of recurrent venous thromboembolism in the general population	23
1.4.2 Risk factors for recurrent venous thromboembolism	24
1.4.3 Hospital related venous thromboembolism and recurrence	25
1.4.4 Myocardial infarction related venous thromboembolism and recurrence	26
1.5 Mortality after venous thromboembolism	27
1.5.1 Epidemiology of mortality after venous thromboembolism in the general population	27
1.5.2 Predictors of survival after venous thromboembolism	29
2. Aims of the study	30
3. Methods	31
3.1 Study populations	31
3.1.1 The Tromsø Study	31
3.2 Outcome measures	32
3.2.1 Identification and validation of incident VTE events	32
3.2.2 Identification and validation of recurrent VTE events	33
3.3 Myocardial infarction as exposure	34
3.4 Multiple Environmental and Genetic Assessment of Risk Factors for Venous Thrombosis (MEGA) follow-up study	34
4. Main results	36
4.1 Paper I	36
4.2 Paper II	37

4.3 Paper III
4.4 Paper IV
5. General discussion 40
5.1 Methodological consideration 40
5.1.1 Study design 40
5.1.2 Bias
5.1.3 Generalizability
5.1.4 Missing data 47
5.1.5 Statistical interaction 48
5.1.6 Confounding
5.1.7 Competing risk of death
5.2 Discussion of main results
5.2.1 Venous thromboembolism: incidence, recurrence, and mortality
5.2.2 Hospital-related and myocardial infarction-related first venous thromboembolism and risk of recurrence
6. Conclusions
7. Implications of results and future perspectives
References

Papers I-IV

Acknowledgements

The work of this thesis was carried out at K.G. Jebsen Thrombosis Research and Expertise Center (TREC), Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences at the UiT-The Arctic University of Norway from September 2014 until September 2018. During this period, I have been a PhD candidate at K.G. Jebsen TREC. TREC is funded by Stiftelsen Kristian Gerhard Jebsen, UiT-The Arctic University of Norway, and the Northern Norway Regional Health Authority.

Words can neither qualify nor quantify the support and the guidance I have received during my PhD period from few special people. The completion of this thesis is my way of thanking them.

First and foremost, I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my main supervisor, Associate Professor Sigrid Kufaas Brækkan. I am extremely lucky to have such a supportive and dedicated supervisor. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to join your excellent research team. It is impossible to count all the ways through which you guided me in recent years. Your profound scientific knowledge is impressive and your epidemiological, statistical and writing skills are extraordinary. Despite your tremendously busy schedule, you were always willing to extend help every time I came knocking at your office door. Every time I left your office, I found myself optimistic, motivated and inspired. Your perseverance, dedication, integrity and constant smile are just a few of your qualities that continue to inspire me. The knowledge you have imparted upon me has been a great asset throughout my professional career. Finally, thank you for always believing in me even when I found it hard to do so.

To my co-supervisor, Professor John-Bjarne Hansen, you have been an integral person to every aspect of this work. Your tremendous scientific knowledge in the field of venous thromboembolism combined with, commitment and optimism encouraged me every step of the way. You are the inspiration behind going the extra mile; even those late evenings in office. Also, you taught me "det går kjempebra" no matter how tough it gets. I offer my heartiest thanks to you. Indeed, the success of my PhD journey is a reflection of the heart-warming support, teaching, patience, kindness, generosity and expertise that you and Sigrid displayed during these years.

Further, I would like to take some time to thank my co-authors, Trond Isaksen, Esben Bjøri, Kristian Hindberg, Håkon Sandbukt Johnsen, Willem Lijfering, Suzanne Cannegieter and Frits Rosendaal for their contribution. Tom Wilsgaard, you are a great teacher of Statistics; thank you for all your lectures. Special thanks to Kristian Hindberg. You are a brilliant statistical mentor and you have always been there to help me understanding Stata output. Vania Maris Morelli; my late evenings and weekends' companion in University at the office. Our scientific discussions, especially on weekends were always longer than planned but oozed creativity. Thank you for your knowledge, skills, time and support.

I would like to take a moment to thank my great colleagues, current and former members of TREC (Gro Grimnes, Line Evensen, Trond Børvik, Erin Mathiesen Hald, Dana Meknas, Simin Jamaly, Trygve Sølberg Ellingsen, Jostein Lappegård, Hanne Skille, Benedikte Paulsen, Ina Høiland, Nadezhda Latysheva, Robin Liang, Cathrine Ramberg, Søren Beck Jensen, Olga Vikhammer Gran, Lars Horvei, Gunhild Lerstad, Caroline Lind, Ludvig Balteskard Rinde, Birgit Småbrekke, Hilde Jensvoll, Timofey Sovershaev, Irina Starikova, Anders Vik, Lise Balteskard, Line Wilsgård, Bjarne Østerud, Helle Jørgensen). It was pleasure to be with you all at TRECxercise, office parties, the Hollmenkollen relay, wine lottery, trips to Toronto and Berlin, hot-tub at Sommarøya, ski days and a TREC movie premiere. Truth is, I will miss all the wonderful time spent with you.

All praise and gratitude to The Almighty ALLAH, the merciful who always guides me on to the right path and has helped me during my Doctoral journey. This journey would not have been possible without the support of my family. I am indebted to my mum and dad; Shahwar and Muhammad Arshad for always believing in me and being there for support in all matters of life both before and beyond PhD. I salute you for the sacrifices you made to shape my life. Thank you for shaping me into who I am today. I looked everywhere to find words that fully describe your unconditional love, valuable prayers, care and support for me; I failed miserably. There is no conversation that didn't have your words for encouragement "hard work never goes to waste" and "you will succeed with ALLAH's grace". To my sisters; Aasma Arshad and Saadia Arshad, my deep and sincere gratitude for being there for me as my best friends; encouraging me to explore new directions in life and seeking my own destiny. You are still beautifully annoying but I couldn't have asked for better sister duo.

Finally, I owe thanks to a very special person, my husband, Mir Anjum Javid for his continued love, moral support and understanding during my pursuit of PhD degree. You have been my best and worst distraction in the toughest PhD moments. I deeply appreciate your trust in me. You are one of the best things that has ever happened to me. My heartfelt regards to my brother in law, Imran Rafiq. I greatly value your moral support during this journey. Last, but certainly not least, thanks to my little angels, my niece, Laraib Farooq and my nephews Jamal Farooq and Shaheer Imran for giving me sanity and plenty of reasons to laugh during the rigors of thesis writing in recent months. You are one of the greatest gifts my heart will ever know. I am lucky to have such caring family standing beside me. May The Almighty ALLAH richly bless all of you.

Nadia Arshad Tromsø, May 2018

Lists of papers

I Time trends in incidence rates of venous thromboembolism in a large cohort recruited from the general population.

Arshad N, Isaksen T, Hansen JB, Brækkan SK.

European Journal of Epidemiology; March 2017; 32(4): 299-305.

II Recurrence and mortality after first venous thromboembolism in a large population-based cohort.

Arshad N, Bjøri E, Hindberg K, Isaksen T, Hansen JB, Brækkan SK.

Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis; February 2017; 15(2): 295-303.

III Hospital-related first venous thromboembolism and risk of recurrence.

Bjøri E, Arshad N, Johnsen HS, Hansen JB, Brækkan SK.

Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis; December 2016; 14(12): 2368-75

IV Myocardial infarction is a risk factor for venous thromboembolism (VTE) recurrence in women with a first VTE.

Arshad N, Lijfering WM, Cannegieter SC, Hansen JB, Rosendaal F, Brækkan SK.

Manuscript

Summary

Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE), collectively referred to as venous thromboembolism (VTE), is associated with substantial morbidity and mortality. To plan and evaluate prevention and treatment strategies for VTE, understanding into the epidemiology and current magnitude of VTE is needed. The aims of this thesis were (i) to assess time-trends in the incidence of VTE in the period 1996-2012, (ii) to assess the incidence of recurrence and mortality after a first VTE, and to investigate association between (iii) hospital-related, and (iv) myocardial infarction (MI)-related first VTE and risk of VTE recurrence.

All four papers in this thesis utilize the Tromsø Study, a large population-based cohort with repeated health surveys (1-7). In paper I, we followed 26 855 participants from the inclusion in Tromsø 4 (1994-95) throughout 2012, and assessed the biennial incidence rates of VTE. In Papers II-IV, patients with a first VTE in the period 1994-2012 derived from Tromsø 4 (Paper II) or Tromsø 1-6 (Papers III and IV) were followed from their first VTE until the date of recurrence, death or emigration, or the end of the study period, whichever came first. Paper IV additionally included data from the Multiple Environmental and Genetic Assessment of Risk Factors for venous thrombosis (MEGA) follow up study.

We found that the overall age-adjusted incidence of VTE increased by 27% from 1996 to 2012. The observed incremental trend was largely due to an increase in the rate of PE. Furthermore, we found that the rates of recurrence and mortality remained high, particularly during the first year after the VTE event. Among patients with hospital-related VTE, the reason for hospitalisation appeared to have a great influence on recurrence risk. In traditional analysis, patients with cancer-related VTE appeared to have the highest risk of recurrence. However, when competing risk of death was taken into account, the risk estimates dropped substantially. Patients with a first VTE related to hospitalisation for medical illness had similar recurrence risk as patients with a non-hospital-related first VTE. Finally, we found that a history of MI was associated with increased risk of VTE recurrence, particularly in women.

Abbreviations

а	Activated
ACCP	American College of Chest Physicians
APC	Activated protein C
BMI	Body mass index
CI	Confidence interval
СТ	Computed tomography
СТРА	Computed tomographic pulmonary angiography
СТРН	Chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DOAC	Direct oral anticoagulant
DVT	Deep vein thrombosis
ECG	Electrocardiogram
F	Factor
FVL	Factor V Leiden
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
HR	Hazard ratio
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
ICD-CM	International Classification of Diseases-Clinical Modification
IR	Incidence rate
КМ	Kaplan-Meier
LMWH	Low molecular weight heparin
LRT	Log-rank test
Мс	Monocytes
MEGA	Multiple Environmental and Genetic Assessment Study
MI	Myocardial infarction
MONICA	Monitoring of trends and determinants in cardiovascular disease
MORGAM	MONICA risk, genetic archiving and monograph project
MP	Microparticles
MRI	Magnetic resonance imagining
MV	Microvesicles
OR	Odds ratio
PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inbibitor-1

PE	Pulmonary embolism
Plt	Platelets
PTS	Postthrombotic syndrome
РҮ	Person years
RR	Relative risk
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
TF	Tissue factor
VKA	Vitamin K antagonist
VQ scan	Perfusion-ventilation scan
VTE	Venous thromboembolism
vWF	von Willebrand factor
WHO	World Health Organization

1. Introduction

1.1 Venous thromboembolism

Thrombosis occurs when a blood clot (i.e. thrombus) is formed inside a blood vessel. Thrombosis may occur in arteries or in veins. A thrombosis in arteries predominantly results in myocardial infarction (MI) if cardiac supply is involved, ischemic stroke in case of cerebral involvement, and rarely ischemia in other locations if peripheral arteries are involved. A thrombosis in a deep vein that interferes with normal venous blood flow back towards the heart is referred to as deep vein thrombosis (DVT). DVT commonly occurs in the large veins of the leg, thigh or pelvis, but it can also occur in other parts of the body, such as the upper extremities, inferior vena cava, portal- and mesenteric veins, or cerebral sinus veins. Classical signs and symptoms of DVT are swelling, tenderness, warmth and discolouration of the affected extremity. An embolus is a thrombus that dislodges from its original site and travels via the bloodstream through the right side of the heart and into the lungs. The embolus becomes lodged where the vessel narrows, and subsequently blocks the blood flow in a pulmonary artery. This condition is referred to as pulmonary embolism (PE). PE is a serious and life-threatening complication of DVT. Clinically, PE is characterized by dyspnoea, tachypnoea, pleuritic-chest pain, haemoptysis, and in severe cases, circulatory collapse and death. Venous thromboembolism (VTE), a collective term for DVT and PE, is a public health concern with substantial economic burden (1).

Anticoagulant drugs are the main therapy for patients with VTE. For many years, standard treatment of VTE patients without cancer constituted an initial phase of low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) and a vitamin K antagonist (VKA) such as warfarin, followed by VKA in monotherapy for long-term treatment (3-12 months). LMWH is the recommended treatment for VTE patients with cancer. Recent evidence indicates that direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs) including direct thrombin inhibitors (e.g. dabigatran) and factor (F) Xa inhibitors (e.g. rivaroxaban, edoxaban and apixaban) have similar efficacy on VTE recurrence and an additional advantage of less bleeding risk when compared with warfarin for the long-term treatment of VTE (2). Recently published guidelines from the American

College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) recommend DOACs over warfarin in acute and long-term treatment of VTE in patients without cancer (3).

The first case of DVT was reported seven centuries ago (4), however, understanding into the aetiology and pathogenesis of VTE began in the mid-1800s. A German physician, Rudolph Virchow proposed in 1856 a triad of physiological alterations that increase the risk of VTE. He postulated three major contributors to the pathophysiology of thrombosis: stasis of blood (alterations in the blood flow), a state of hypercoagulability (changes of blood composition), and venous injury (changes of the vessel wall) (figure 1). This classification remains valid and continues to serve as the foundation of our understanding of the pathophysiological mechanism of VTE (5, 6).



Figure 1. Virchow's Triad

1.2 Pathogenesis of venous thromboembolism

Autopsy and radiological studies have shown that venous thrombi originate near the vessel wall in the apex of the venous valve pocket, and that venous thrombi mainly contain red blood cells and fibrin (7). The venous valve pocket of the calf vein is prone to hypoxia (8) and a common location for the initiation of venous thrombi (figure 2).



Figure 2. The pathology of DVT in the venous valves: The venous valvular sinus is a predilection site for thrombus formation. The vortical flow pattern at the venous valvular sinus leads to a steep decline in oxygen tension. The resultant hypoxia activates the venous endothelium, leading to the recruitment and binding of monocytes (Mc), platelets (Plt), and tissue factor (TF)-positive microparticles (MP). Consequently, TF from activated Mc and MP may activate the coagulation cascade and initiate thrombosis formation.

Hypoxia is suggested to be associated with prothrombotic and proinflammatory processes within the endothelial cells (7, 8) and it has been hypothesized that hypoxia caused by blood *stasis* leads to the activation of endothelial cells. A healthy and undamaged endothelium is a metabolically active interface between blood and the underlying tissues. It prevents adherence of cells and proteins required for clotting, hence preventing thrombosis (9). The endothelium is activated by hypoxia and/ or inflammatory mediators. Activation of the endothelium results in expression of P-selectin and E-selectin, which in turn facilitate adhesion of leukocytes (monocytes), platelets and TF⁺ microvesicles

(MVs) on the surface of the endothelium (10) with subsequent activation of the coagulation cascade. The activation of the coagulation cascade overwhelms the protective anticoagulant pathways and triggers thrombus formation (7). Together, activated (a) factor VIIa and TF, trigger the extrinsic coagulation pathway via activation of FIX and FX through FVIII. Activated FX and FV convert prothrombin (FII) to thrombin (FIIa). Thrombin further converts fibrinogen (FI) to fibrin (FIa) and activates FXIII which ultimately leads to stabilized fibrin (7). In addition, *injury to the endothelium* results in expression of TF, exposure of the sub-endothelial vascular collagen to platelets and clotting factors, and adhesion of white blood cells to the endothelial surface (11).

1.3 Epidemiology of incident venous thromboembolism

1.3.1 Venous thromboembolism in the general population

VTE is the third most common cardiovascular disease after MI and stroke, (12) and is a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. VTE is a common condition with an overall incidence of 1 to 2 per 1000 persons each year in Western countries (13, 14). The annual number of symptomatic VTE in Europe is more than one million (15). Additionally, approximately 0.3 million deaths occur annually due to sudden PE or following undiagnosed VTE (15), which is more than twofold the combined deaths due to acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), breast and prostate cancer, and transport accidents (15).

DVT accounts for approximately two-thirds of all VTE events, whereas PE makes up nearly onethird, although the two conditions often exist simultaneously (16, 17). Out of those presenting with symptomatic DVT, 50-80 % have silent PE (18), whereas, among individuals with symptomatic PE, 50% have asymptomatic DVT (19).

VTE has serious short and long-term complications. Short-term thrombosis sequelae include extension of the thrombus, early recurrence, and mortality. VTE is also associated with long-term

complications such as postthrombotic syndrome (PTS), chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTPH), late recurrence, and death (20, 21). Recurrent thrombosis is relatively common, particularly in patients with unprovoked VTE (22). Approximately 30% of patients develop recurrence within the next 10 years following a first VTE diagnosis (23). Anticoagulant-related major bleeding occurs in about 5-10% in the first year following an initial VTE diagnosis (24). For nearly one-fourth of PE patients, the initial clinical presentation is sudden death (20). Moreover, PE is estimated to be the leading preventable cause of death in hospitalized patients (25). PTS is the most common complication of DVT, affecting between 20-50% of patients with lower limb DVT (21, 22). Symptoms of PTS include pain, heaviness, cramps and persistent swelling of the affected extremity (21). Risk factors for development of PTS include female sex, obesity, proximal DVT, recurrent DVT and varicose veins (26). Prognosis mainly depends on the affected anatomic segment and time till restoration of vessel strength (21). PTS impairs patient mobility, quality of life and increases the risk of disability pension (21). Chronic obstruction of major pulmonary arteries results in CTPH that causes additional workload on the right side of the heart due to abnormally high blood pressure in the arteries. CTPH occurs in 0.5-1.5% of all PE cases and in 1.5-4.0% of patients with unprovoked PE. The majority of the CTPH cases were identified within the first 2 years after the initial PE diagnosis (27).

1.3.2 Time-trends in incidence rates of venous thromboembolism

The reported incidence of an initial episode of VTE varies substantially in previous literature as it ranged between 62 and 143 per 100,000 individuals per year (13, 24, 28-32). The incidence of first-time PE ranged between 19 and 80 per 100,000 per year, and incidence of first-time DVT ranged between 35 and 95 per 100,000 per year (13, 24, 28-32). These variations may be due to population characteristics such as age distribution, ethnicity, available data sources, case definition and validation procedures, study design, and dependence on hospital inpatient databases (13, 14, 16, 33, 34). Moreover, some other studies did not separate incident events from recurrent events or did not

include autopsy-identified events (35). Modification in risk factors, prevention strategies, increased awareness of VTE risk, and the use of thromboprophylaxis in high-risk situations can influence the rates of VTE in the community (36). For instance, the prevalence of VTE risk factors such as old age, obesity and cancer are increasing at the population level in Western countries (15, 34, 35). The widespread use of LMWH for VTE prophylaxis (24) as well as the introduction and utilization of more sensitive and objective diagnostic tools, such as multidetector row computed tomographic pulmonary angiography (CTPA) and magnetic resonance imagining (MRI) for detection of PE, may have influenced the rates during the last 20 years (37-39).

Scientific literature describing the incidence of VTE vary considerably, and the majority of the population-based studies were carried out several decades ago (14, 20, 24, 25). Few studies have investigated recent time trends in the incidence of VTE. Two studies reported an 80% increase in the rates of VTE in the period 1985-2009 (39) and 1993-2006 (38) with a considerable increase from 1999 to 2009, primarily due to an increase in PE (13, 38-40).

To summarise, few studies have focused on the trend in VTE-incidence during the last decades. Increased awareness of VTE and a better understanding of VTE epidemiology may assist better public health outcomes through further research into VTE risk factors and targeted prevention.

1.3.3 Classification of venous thromboembolism

VTE events can be broadly categorized as being provoked (secondary/ environmental) or unprovoked (idiopathic/ non-environmental), depending on the presence of risk factors at the time of VTE diagnosis. This classification has implications for the risk of VTE recurrence and length of treatment (41). VTE events are categorized as provoked if they occur in the presence of either transient (e.g. hospitalization, acute medical illness, recent surgery, trauma, and long-haul travel) or persistent (e.g. active cancer, paralysis) provoking factors. Risk factors are further classified into major and minor. Provoked VTE events occur in the presence of major transient risk factors (e.g. major trauma, surgery

with general anaesthesia for more than 30 minutes, or acute illness with admission to hospital for at least 3 days) in the 3 months before an event. Minor transient risk factors include surgery with general anaesthesia for less than 30 minutes, acute illness with admission to hospital for less than 3 days, oestrogen therapy, and pregnancy in 2 months before a VTE diagnosis. When VTE occurs in patients with a minor transient risk factor, or occurs many months after a major risk factor, it can be controversial whether the risk factor is prognostically significant enough to justify categorization of the VTE as provoked. VTE events are considered unprovoked if they occur in the absence of a provoked factor, transient or persistent (41).

1.3.4 Risk factors for venous thromboembolism

In epidemiology, a risk factor is a characteristic (or exposure) that affects the incidence of disease and has a causal role in the development of disease (42, 43). Stasis, hypercoagulability, and alteration of the vessel wall (endothelial activation or injury) are the major factors responsible for thrombus formation and propagation according to Virchow's triad (44). Almost all risk factors for VTE fall into one or more categories of this triad. VTE is a complex and a multicausal disease associated with several risk factors, which must be present for an event to occur (45).

The complex interplay between risk factors for VTE may be explained by the thrombosis potential model (45) (figure 3). This model is based on the assumption that each risk factor enhances the risk, called an individual's thrombosis potential, and when the combined effect of these risk factors exceeds the thrombosis threshold, the result is a VTE event.



Figure 3. The Thrombosis potential model. The green line represents a heredity factor for VTE (e.g. Factor V Leiden), and the purple line represents the effect of a risk factor that increases over time (e.g. age). The blue line demonstrates the joint effects of the heredity factor, age and provoking factors (e.g. trauma, surgery or use of oral contraceptives) on the thrombosis potential at different time points. Provoking factors in early years of life may not be sufficient to reach the thrombosis threshold. However, a provoking factor later in life may contribute to exceed the thrombosis threshold (red line) and result in a VTE. If the thrombosis potential keeps on increasing following an incident VTE event, a provoking factor may exceed the thrombosis threshold again and result in a recurrent VTE.

Classical **environmental exposures (acquired risk factors)** for VTE include advancing age, major surgery, trauma, hospitalization, obesity, prolonged immobilization, cancer, oral contraceptives, hormone replacement therapy, pregnancy, puerperium, acute medical conditions, and antiphospholipid antibodies (34, 46, 47).

Advancing age is one of the strongest risk factors for VTE, and a number of studies support an association between increasing age and higher incidence of VTE (13, 16, 30, 48, 49). The incidence of VTE increases exponentially (14, 28) from 5 per 100 000 per year in individuals <15 years, to approximately 500 per 100 000 per year among individuals over 80 years (16). The risk increases

rapidly after the age of 45 years (13). Studies have reported that age increases the risk of VTE nearly 2-fold per decade (48) and the risk of VTE is 10 to 15-fold higher in individuals over 75 years as compared to those aged 45-54 years (50, 51). The reason for the increased risk of thrombosis with age is not fully investigated. However, it is suggested that it might be related to decreased mobility, degenerative vascular changes (46), more co-morbidities and increased plasma levels of haemostatic factors (fibrinogen, FVIII, FVII, d-dimer and homocysteine) or a combination of these (33, 52, 53). Although VTE occurs more frequently in older individuals (35), it can affect individuals of any age and sex (13). With increasing age in both males and females, PE accounts for an increasing proportion of the VTEs (13). The association between sex and risk of first time VTE has been assessed in many large cohort studies. Some studies reported higher risk of VTE in men than in women (13, 48), whereas others have shown a higher incidence of VTE in women than in men (24, 28, 54, 55). Moreover, in some other studies, the incidence of first VTE was approximately equal between the sexes (16). The variation in results of these studies could be explained by differences in the selection of the study population since the risk of VTE varies with age. Women have slightly higher risk of VTE during childbearing age (16-44 years) compared with men of similar age,(13, 28, 56) whereas men have an overall higher risk of VTE after the age of 45 years (28, 29, 56). The Multiple Environmental and Genetic Assessment of Risk Factors for Venous Thrombosis (MEGA) study reported that the risk of a first VTE is 2-fold higher in men than in women once female reproductive risk factors (oral contraception use, post-menopausal hormone therapy, or pregnancy) for VTE are taken into consideration (57), suggesting that the risk of incident VTE is higher in men than in women. The pathophysiology behind these observations has not yet been disentangled.

Recent major **surgery** is considered a strong risk factor for VTE (58). Surgical procedures associated with a high risk include neurosurgery, major orthopaedic surgery of the lower extremity, cancer surgeries of the thorax, abdomen or pelvis, and renal transplantation (59). Major surgery is associated with a 4 to 22-fold increased risk of VTE (58, 60). Several factors, such as advancing age, presence of comorbid conditions, endothelial damage and subsequent immobility after surgery, as

well as type and duration of surgery have been recognized as risk factors for VTE post operatively (61). Growing evidence also suggests increased TF expression and levels of procoagulant factors VII and fibrinogen on day 3 after major orthopaedic surgery of the lower extremity (62, 63). Additionally, minor surgical procedures, including central venous catheter and pacemaker insertion, have also been highlighted as risk factors for VTE (58, 64).

Hospitalization is another risk factor for VTE. The average age- and sex-adjusted incidence of in-hospital VTE was 960 (95 % confidence interval [CI] 795-1125) per 10 000 person-years (PY) and 7.1 (95% CI 6-7) per 10 000 PY among community residents (65). A population-based study reported that 61% (95% CI 57-66%) of all confirmed cases of VTE could be attributed to institutionalization (current hospital or nursing home confinement) within the preceding 3 months (64). In a case control study, recent hospitalization with and without surgery was associated with a 22-fold and 8-fold increased risk of VTE respectively (58). Without prophylaxis, the estimated incidence of hospital-associated VTE in adult medical or general surgical patients ranges from 10% to 40% (66). Many of these events are not clinically evident, however, still could lead to life-threatening complications like PE. A study reported that approximately 10% of all deaths in hospitalized medical patients are linked to PE (67). **Acute medical conditions**, for instance, MI, stroke, infections, congestive heart failure and respiratory diseases are known to increase the risk of thrombus formation (3, 68, 69). Hospitalization for acute medical illness is associated with an 8-fold increased risk of VTE (70).

Cancer is recognized as one of the most important risk factors for VTE. Almost 20% of all incident VTE events are associated with cancer (64, 71), and the overall risk of VTE is estimated to be 4 to 7-fold higher in patients with cancer (58) compared with cancer-free individuals (23). The risk of VTE among cancer patients varies according to cancer type, stage and treatment options. The risk of VTE is high among cases with metastatic stage cancers particularly cancer of the brain, pancreas and stomach, whereas, prostate and breast cancer have generally been associated with a low VTE risk (72, 73). In a population-based study, after adjusting for age, race, and cancer stage, VTE was associated

with a significant reduction in survival in cancer patients during the first year (range of hazard ratios [HR], 1.6-4.2; p <0.01) (72). Hospitalized patients with cancer had twice the incidence of DVT and PE as hospitalized patients without cancer (74). Risk of VTE is highly dependent on cancer-related (cancer type, stage, tumor grade, histological type, and time since cancer diagnosis), patient-related (advancing age, obesity, immobility, comorbid conditions, and inherited thrombophilias), and treatment-related (surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, central venous catheters, erythropoiesis-stimulating agents, and blood transfusions) risk factors (75). Several pathogenic mechanisms may promote thrombus formation in cancer patients including tumour induced platelet activation, enhanced expression of TF, reduced clearance of coagulation factors and decreased anticoagulant synthesis (63, 76). Moreover, it is likely that the tumour itself increases the risk of thrombosis by causing a procoagulant state through release of humoral factors (46).

Patients with **multiple trauma** are also at high risk of developing VTE (77). In the absence of anticoagulant prophylaxis, thrombosis (symptomatic or asymptomatic) occurs in 50 % to 60 % patients with head trauma, spinal injury, pelvic, femoral, and tibial fractures (78). The magnitude of injury according to injury severity score, impact of operative interventions, presence of pelvic injury and spinal cord injuries are factors that places the individual patient at a higher risk of developing VTE (77).

The rising prevalence of **obesity**, especially in the Western countries, is a growing public health concern. According to 2017 estimates from the World Health Organization (WHO), worldwide obesity rates have nearly tripled since 1975 (79). Growing evidence suggests that obesity (body mass index [BMI] over 30 kg/m²) is a risk factor for VTE (80). All measurements of obesity including BMI, body weight, waist circumference, hip circumference, and total body fat mass are associated with an increased risk of VTE (81-83). Elevated levels of FVIII, FIX, and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) in obese individuals could likely contribute to the increased risk of VTE (7). Moreover, excess abdominal body fat may result in compromised venous return with subsequent venous stasis (80).

Venous stasis is an important risk factor for VTE and **immobilization** of the extremities, for instance due to paralysis, bed rest, plaster casts, and long-haul flights, increases the risk of thrombus formation (84, 85). In one study, immobilization (confinement to bed or armchair) was found to be associated with a 6-fold (95 % CI 2.3-13.7) increased risk of DVT (86). Moreover, in another study, asymptomatic DVT was found in 60% of paralysed limbs of stroke patients compared with 7% in the non-paralysed limbs (85). Prolonged immobility combined with other risk factors increases the probability of VTE (47). Without much difference for the various modes of travel, **long haul flights** (\geq 4 hours) was associated with a 3-fold increased risk of thrombosis. The risk was mainly due to immobilization and reported to be higher for individuals with factor V Leiden (FVL), obesity and users of oral contraceptives (87).

An association between **pregnancy** and VTE is well established and PE is reported to be the leading cause of maternal death in the developed world (88). Pregnant women have a 4 to 5-fold increased risk of VTE compared with non-pregnant women (89, 90). The steep incline in VTE risk during pregnancy may be explained by a large increase in levels of procoagulant factors (for instance, VII, VIII, X, fibrinogen, von Willebrand factor (vWF), and PAI-1 during normal pregnancy which returns to baseline levels after 8 weeks postpartum (91). Additionally, increased venous capacitance and reduced venous return in pregnant women along with mechanical obstruction by the uterus may contribute to pregnancy-related thrombosis (88). In the postpartum or **puerperium** period (6-weeks after delivery), the risk of VTE is 20 to 80-fold higher, probably due to endothelial damage to the pelvic vessels that occurs during labour (88, 89).

Use of **oral contraceptives** is also an established risk factor for VTE in women and has been shown to increase the risk of VTE from 2 up to 7-fold especially during the first year of use depending on the dose of Ethinylestradiol and the type of progestogen (92). The third generation progestogens (desogestrel and gestodene) are associated with the highest risk of VTE (92). Increased levels of procoagulant factors (such as, VII, VIII, IX, X, XII, XIII, II, I), reduced concentration of the natural

anticoagulants (protein S and antithrombin), and an increased resistance to the anticoagulant action of activated protein C (APC) has been observed with oestrogen usage (93-95). Moreover, postmenopausal women taking **hormone replacement therapy** (with oestrogens) have a 2 to 3-fold increased risk of developing VTE (96).

Individuals with **antiphospholipid antibodies**, both with and without underlying systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) have an increased risk of VTE. Ginsberg *et al.* reported a strong association between lupus anticoagulant and VTE, with an odds ratio (OR) of 9.4 (97).

In addition to acquired risk factors, a variety of **inherited traits** contribute to the overall risk of VTE in an individual. Family and twin studies have revealed that genetic factors account for 50-60% of the VTE risk (98, 99), and a family history of VTE is associated with a 2 to 3-fold higher risk of VTE (100). Inherited thrombophilias increase the risk of VTE predominantly by two mechanisms. The *loss-of-function* of anticoagulant proteins (including deficiency of antithrombin, protein C, or protein S) or *gain-of-function* of procoagulant factors (such as factor V Leiden [FVL], prothrombin G20210A and non-O blood group) (101, 102).

Antithrombin is a glycoprotein produced by the liver and is a strong natural inhibitor of the coagulation cascade. Over 250 genetic mutations may result in **Antithrombin deficiency** (102). Antithrombin deficiency is a rare condition found in 1-2% of the VTE patients, and is associated with a 10 to 50-fold increased risk of VTE (103). Protein C, encoded by the PROC gene, is a vitamin K-dependent plasma glycoprotein that is synthesized in the liver and released into the bloodstream. **Deficiency of protein C** is a congenital or an acquired condition and leads to increased risk of thrombosis (104). Heterozygous protein C deficiency is present in 2-5% of VTE cases and <0.5% of the general population, and associated with a 10-fold increased risk of VTE (105). Protein S, encoded by the PROS1 gene, is a vitamin K-dependent single glycoprotein that is synthesized in the liver. Protein S functions as a cofactor to facilitate the action of activated protein C for the inactivation of activated factor V (FVa) and factor VIIIa. **Deficiency of protein S** is found in <0.5% of the general population and

in 2-12% of selected groups of thrombophilic patients (106), and family studies have suggested that the VTE risk is similar to that in patients with Protein C deficiency (104).

FVL, prothrombin G20210A and non-O blood group are less thrombogenic, however, they are more common than the deficiencies of antithrombin, protein C, or protein S (104). Factor V (FV) is a single-chain glycoprotein encoded by the F5 gene. It is synthesized in the liver and circulates in the plasma as an inactive precursor. APC inactivates the activated form of FV. A polymorphism of FV (FVL mutation) is associated with APC resistance. As a result, FV protein retains its procoagulant role in the plasma (104). The overall prevalence of FVL mutation is about 5% among Caucasians in its heterozygous form (107). The FVL mutation yields a 2 to 3-fold increased risk of VTE (108). Prothrombin, encoded by the F2 gene, is a single-chain glycoprotein and one of the vitamin-K dependent factors synthesized in the liver. Prothrombin gene G20210A mutation causes the body to produce excess amount of prothrombin (109). The prevalence of this gene mutation is around 2% in the general population and carriers of this polymorphism have 3 to 4-fold increased risk of VTE (110). The occurrence of FVL and prothrombin G20210A varies with ethnicity and are more prevalent among white Europeans and Americans than among individuals of African or Asian descent (104). The ABO gene encodes proteins related to the blood group system that determines the blood group. The ABO phenotype correlates with plasma levels of FVIII and vWF (104). The non-O blood group phenotype confers a 1.5-fold increased risk of VTE (108) and to some extent, this association is due to increased levels of vWF and FVIII in individuals with non-O blood group (111). However, some studies have shown that non-O blood group remains significantly associated with VTE even after adjustment for FVIII or vWF levels (112), inferring a contribution of an unidentified pathway linking non-O blood group to the risk of VTE.

Despite significant contribution of genetic factors influencing VTE risk, a review reported that common polymorphisms are expected to explain approximately 5-20% of VTE heritability (108). Genome-wide association studies (GWAS), performed during the last decades, have identified 12 novel

single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs), which are associated with VTE and are frequent in the population. The OR associated with these risk alleles range from 1.15 to 1.50. These SNPs have a moderate influence on the risk of VTE and are therefore not likely to entirely explain the hereditary predisposition for VTE (108). Much remains to be done to disentangle the genetic variation of VTE. Therefore, it is expected that forthcoming whole-genome sequencing studies will identify novel genetic risk factors for VTE.

1.4 Recurrence of venous thromboembolism

1.4.1 Epidemiology of recurrent venous thromboembolism in the general

population

VTE is a chronic disease that frequently recurs (20, 39, 113). The risk of VTE recurrence after an incident VTE is highest during the initial 6 to 12 months, and then it declines with time (114) . The cumulative incidence of first overall VTE recurrence is reported to be 0.6-5% at 30 days, 7-10% at 6 months, 11-18% after one year, 22.8% at five years, and 25-40% at 10 years (22, 23, 35, 48, 115-123). The variations in the reported cumulative incidence rates can potentially be explained by differences in study design, clinical setting, case definition, age restriction, and the time period in which the studies were conducted. In recent years, advances in diagnostics and management, out of hospital diagnosis, and treatment of VTE may have influenced the rates of adverse outcomes after VTE. For instance, the average length of hospital stay after a VTE has been reduced, and a large proportion of VTE cases are treated as outpatients (24, 39). Additionally, knowledge about VTE risk and the use of thromboprophylaxis in high-risk situations may also have affected the recurrence rates. Finally, the extensive use of high-resolution multidetector CTPA to diagnose PE, and the concomitant increased detection rate of subsegmental PE, may have influenced the overall outcome rates after a first VTE (38, 124).

Overall, few studies have assessed and compared the cumulative incidence of recurrence in the presence of competing risk by death in subcategories of patients with an incident VTE (125, 126). Additionally, other studies were conducted decades ago (22, 23), recruited patients after completion of anticoagulant treatment (3-12 months after the first event), and the study population was either outpatients or hospitalized patients (22, 121, 127). We therefore aimed to estimate the cumulative incidence of recurrence after a first VTE. With the purpose to assess the burden of VTE, we used cases derived from a general population cohort including both the hospital and community setting during 1994-2012.

1.4.2 Risk factors for recurrent venous thromboembolism

The aetiology of the first VTE event is the primary driver of the risk of recurrence after discontinuing anticoagulants (128). If VTE occurs in the presence of provoking factors, the risk of recurrence is generally low and does not require prolonged treatment (> 3 months) with anticoagulants (3, 41, 129). For instance, in patients with VTE provoked by a major transient risk factor, the initial treatment can be limited to 3 months, as the annual risk of recurrence is only 1% after stopping anticoagulation (3). Patients with VTE provoked by a major persistent risk factor has a higher risk of VTE recurrence after discontinuing treatment than patients with VTE provoked by transient factors or unprovoked VTE (23, 41, 130). Patients with unprovoked VTE have an intermediate to high risk of recurrence after discontinuing treatment (41, 129). Population-based studies have reported that 50-60% of the VTE events can be classified as provoked (28, 29, 123).

Recurrences often occur at the same site as the initial event (DVT or PE). For instance, patients presenting with PE are three times more likely to suffer recurrence as PE than patients presenting with proximal DVT (131). Moreover, patients with DVT, in general, experience more recurrence than patients with PE. Studies have shown that patients with a first symptomatic DVT have a 1.5 to 2-fold higher risk of recurrence than patients with a first PE (115, 121, 132).

Predictors of VTE recurrence include increasing age and BMI, male sex, neurologic disease with paresis, active cancer, inferior vena cava filter placement, and neurosurgery (23, 127, 133-135). Recurrent VTE occurs at a higher rate in men than in women, up to 10% per year versus 2-5% per year respectively (127, 136, 137). A meta-analysis reported that men have a 50% higher risk than women of recurrent VTE after stopping anticoagulant treatment (136). This meta-analysis included 11 cohort studies, five of these studies found an increased risk of recurrence in men [relative risk (RR) range= 1.7-6.3], five studies found a weak or no association, whereas one study found a lower risk in men (RR= 0.5). Previous studies have shown that recurrence risk is highest (>2-fold) when the first event was unprovoked (115, 138). In patients with a first unprovoked VTE, Baglin *et al.* reported a 2.5-fold higher risk of recurrent VTE in men compared with women at 2 years (134). Interestingly, men with a provoked first event still had a higher recurrence risk than women with an unprovoked first event (139).

1.4.3 Hospital related venous thromboembolism and recurrence

Hospitalization in itself is an interim exposure and may therefore be considered as a transient risk factor, presumed to be associated with a low risk of recurrence (23, 129). However, studies have reported that short-term hospitalization with (23) or without neurologic disease is associated with an increased risk of recurrence (125). There is not much data available on the risk of recurrence after incident hospital-related VTE, particularly hospitalization for conditions other than cancer or surgery. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate the risk of recurrence and mortality among patients with an incident VTE associated with previous hospitalization and to compare the impact of transient and persistent hospital-related factors such as surgery, cancer or other medical conditions (e.g. MI) on the risk of recurrence in models with and without death as a competing event.

The most common statistical method employed to evaluate the recurrence risk of VTE has been the Kaplan-Meier (KM) approach, through which death is viewed as a censoring event (140-142).

The mortality rate is expected to be higher among patients with cancer and other comorbidities. The KM method, when used to estimate the cumulative incidence of recurrence of VTE, overestimates the cumulative incidence of recurrence due to failure to account for death as a competing risk. In our study, the cumulative incidence of recurrence may be influenced by the competing risk of death. Thus, application of the competing risk model, as suggested by Fine and Gray (143), may yield a more appropriate statistical estimate of the cumulative incidence of recurrence in patients with a hospital related first VTE.

1.4.4 Myocardial infarction related venous thromboembolism and recurrence

Arterial cardiovascular diseases (MI and ischemic stroke) are generally considered to be distinct from venous thromboembolic disease due to different pathophysiology, clinical presentation and treatment (144). In the past decade, however, this concept has been challenged (145, 146) when Prandoni *et al.* (145) found an association between subclinical atherosclerosis and VTE. Later, this finding has been refuted by others (147).

Several epidemiological studies have shown that patients with incident VTE have an increased risk of subsequent arterial cardiovascular disease (CVD) (148-150). A large population-based Danish cohort study reported a 2-fold increased risk of subsequent arterial CVD in patients with VTE as compared with population controls (148). Growing evidence also supports an interrelation between CVD and subsequent VTE. Two large Danish population-based registry-studies have demonstrated that hospitalization for MI or stroke (151), or heart disease (152), was associated with an increased risk of VTE in the following 3 months after taking age, sex, obesity, medication use and comorbidities into consideration. Similarly, Rinde *et al.* showed that patients with MI had an increased risk of VTE, particularly during the first six months after the MI (68). Likewise, a meta-analysis showed that 4% of patients with MI experienced symptomatic PE within approximately 2 weeks after hospitalization (153). The potential mechanism behind the observed association between MI and the future risk of

VTE could include shared risk factors (obesity, smoking, and family history of MI), indirect factors (hospitalizations accompanied by episodes of immobilization following MI) or a direct causal relationship (sudden tissue damage associated prothrombotic response, disturbed cardiopulmonary circulation after MI, and heart failure related venous stasis). The transient increase in risk of VTE after MI reported in the population-based studies, suggests that MI is a transient risk factor for incident VTE (68, 152). This points towards transient mechanisms related to the MI itself (direct relationship), or indirect factors.

If the relationship between MI and risk of VTE is purely transient, one would expect the recurrence risk of VTE to be low. It is, however, uncertain whether VTE patients with a history of MI are at increased risk of VTE recurrence. One study reported that presence of chronic cardiovascular disease in patients with symptomatic VTE was associated with a 2-fold increased risk of recurrent VTE during the initial 3 months of anticoagulant therapy (154). This points towards a persistent risk of VTE in patients with medical conditions such as MI. The risk of VTE recurrence in patients with a history of MI has not been extensively studied. We therefore aimed to investigate the association between history of MI and the risk of VTE recurrence in a cohort of patients with validated information on incident VTE and potential confounders.

1.5 Mortality after venous thromboembolism

1.5.1 Epidemiology of mortality after venous thromboembolism in the general

population

VTE is associated with substantial morbidity and mortality and is considered to be the leading preventable cause of in-hospital death (155). Extrapolated data from 6 European countries estimated that 370 012 VTE related deaths occurred in Europe in 2004, clearly indicating that VTE represents a major public health burden. Nearly three quarters of all VTE-related deaths were from hospital-

acquired VTE (15). PE contributes to 5-10% of deaths in hospitalized patients (155). Moreover, 25% of all PE cases are thought to present as sudden death (156).

A large study of 67 354 definite and 35 123 probable VTEs reported 30-day and 1-year case fatality rates of 10.6% and 23.0%, respectively (157). Rates of survival after a first VTE vary widely in previous studies, ranging from 77% to 97% at 1 week and from 61% to 75% at 8 years (22, 48, 115, 122, 156). The short-term survival ranges from 95% to 97% (35, 48) in DVT patients, and from 77% to 94% in PE patients (35, 48, 119, 158), whereas long-term survival ranges from 61% to 75% for both DVT and PE (22, 35, 48, 118, 119). A study reported an overall 8-years cumulative incidence of mortality of 12% (159), whereas another study stated cumulative mortality rate of 52.5% at 8 years (156). The variation in the reported rates may partly be due to differences in study design (clinical trials (160, 161), cohorts or registry databases (162) with limited case validation), clinical setting (hospital (163, 164) or outpatient setting (22, 122)), short follow up time (maximum 10 years (22, 35, 159, 165, 166)), the time period during which the study was conducted, age restriction (age <70 years (159) or 65-89 years (35)), and failure to examine mortality for DVT and PE separately (28, 159, 165). Advances in diagnostics, management and treatment of VTE may have influenced the rates of adverse outcomes after VTE. The length of hospital stay has been reduced since the introduction of LMWH for the treatment of VTE (24, 39, 167-169). Increased awareness of VTE risk and the use of thromboprophylaxis in high-risk situations may also have impacted on mortality rates.

Recent data regarding VTE mortality is limited and previous estimates vary considerably. From a public health perspective, it is important to determine the mortality rates of VTE during the last decades since this information is useful to assess the burden of VTE and its impact on survival.

1.5.2 Predictors of survival after venous thromboembolism

Patients diagnosed with VTE often have malignancy, heart disease or other comorbidities that are associated with increased risk of mortality (33, 170). In the absence of recurrent embolism, death usually results from these coexistent conditions rather than from fatal PE (156).

Predictors of reduced short-term survival include advancing age, male sex, low BMI, confinement to a hospital or nursing home at the onset of VTE, and a history of congestive heart failure (158), chronic lung disease (158), neurological disease, or cancer (156, 158, 170). A cohort study of patients in Olmsted County found that in multivariable adjusted analysis, among patients without cancer, the odds of death within 7 days after VTE for men were 44% higher than for women. A Norwegian study reported that the survival for patients with unprovoked VTE without cancer was higher than for patients with cancer-associated VTE (28). Confinement to a hospital or nursing home at the time of VTE onset was associated with poor survival across all ages (156).

Predictors of reduced long-term survival include increasing age, event type, current or former smoking, confinement to a hospital or nursing home at the onset of VTE, and history of congestive heart failure, chronic lung and renal disease, neurological disease, or malignancy (156). Heit *et al.* reported that long-term survival remained significantly reduced for patients with PE compared with DVT even after adjustment for comorbid conditions (156). Mortality data from the French Epidemiology Center on medical causes of death from 2000 to 2010 indicated that cancer, obesity, osteopathies, and surgical complications were more likely to be the underlying cause of death when PE was listed on the death certificate (171).

2. Aims of the study

The aims of the study were:

- I. To describe the 16 years' time trend (1996–2012) in the incident rates of VTE in a large population-based cohort, and to describe the prevalence of clinical risk factors and provoking factors of VTE at the time of VTE diagnosis.
- II. To estimate the cumulative incidence of recurrence and mortality after a first VTE by using cases derived from a general population cohort including both the hospital and outpatient setting, during the period 1994–2012.
- III. To investigate the risk of recurrence and mortality among patients with a first hospitalrelated VTE, and to compare the impact of transient and persistent hospital-related factors such as surgery, cancer or other medical conditions on the risk of recurrence in models with and without death as a competing event.
- IV. To investigate whether a history of MI was associated with risk of VTE recurrence in a cohort of patients with incident VTE.

3. Methods

3.1 Study populations

3.1.1 The Tromsø Study

Paper I, II and III included in this thesis are based on Tromsø Study, whereas Paper IV also includes the Multiple Environmental and Genetic Assessment of Risk Factors for Venous Thrombosis (MEGA) follow up study.

The Tromsø Study is a single center, population based cohort with repeated health surveys of the inhabitants of the municipality of Tromsø, Norway. The Tromsø Study is conducted by the Department of Community Medicine at the University of Tromsø. It was originally initiated in 1974 as the Tromsø Heart Study with a purpose to investigate and prevent arterial CVD, since cardiovascular mortality was high in North Norway during that time. The focus of the Tromsø Study has expanded over time, and at present, the Tromsø Study has become a large epidemiological study including a broad spectrum of diseases. So far, seven surveys have been conducted. The first survey was carried out in 1974, followed by surveys in 1979 to 1980, 1986-1987, 1994-1995, 2000-2001, 2007-2008, and most recently the seventh survey in 2015-2016. In all Tromsø surveys, baseline information was collected through self-administered questionnaires, non-fasting blood samples and physical examination performed by the trained personnel.

Tromsø 1 was conducted in 1974 and men aged 20 to 49 were invited and 6 595 participated. The participation rate was 83%. *Tromsø 2* invited men and women between 20 and 54 years and 16 621 individuals participated (participation rate 74%). *Tromsø 3* was conducted from 1986 to 1987 and 21 826 individuals between 12 and 67 years participated, and the participation rate was 75%. *Tromsø 4* was conducted from 1994 to 1995, and a total of 27 158 individuals aged 25 to 97 years participated. *Tromsø 4* is the largest survey of the Tromsø Study with a participation rate of 77%. *Tromsø 5* was conducted from 2001 to 2002 and included 8 130 individuals (participation rate 79%) aged 30 to 89 years. *Tromsø 6* was conducted from 2007 to 2008 and included 12 984 individuals aged 30 to 87 years. The participation rate was 66%. *Tromsø 7* was conducted from 2015 to 2016 and included 21 083 individuals aged 44 to 104 years (participation rate 65%).

The VTE registry was started in 1994. In Paper I, participants from the fourth survey of the Tromsø Study were followed up from January 1, 1994 until December 31, 2012. In Paper II, participants from the fourth survey of the Tromsø Study who developed a first lifetime VTE were followed from the date of their VTE diagnosis until December 31, 2012 for VTE recurrence and all-cause mortality. In Paper III and IV, patients with a first VTE in the period 1994-2012, derived from the first six surveys of the Tromsø Study, were followed from the date of their first lifetime VTE diagnosis until the date of their first lifetime VTE diagnosis until the date of their first lifetime VTE diagnosis until the date of their first lifetime VTE diagnosis until the date of their first lifetime VTE diagnosis until the date of their first lifetime VTE diagnosis until the date of recurrence, date of death or emigration, or the end of the study period (Dec 31, 2012).

3.2 Outcome measures

3.2.1 Identification and validation of incident VTE events

In the Tromsø Study, VTE events were recorded from January 1, 1994 up till December 31, 2012 (Paper I-IV). Three registries at the University Hospital of North Norway were used to identify VTE events during the follow-up: the hospital discharge diagnosis registry, the autopsy registry, and the radiological procedure registry. The University Hospital of North Norway is the only hospital in the region, and therefore, all outpatient and admitted patient medical care, relevant diagnostic radiology procedures and appropriate treatment of VTE in the Tromsø municipality is provided entirely by this hospital. Relevant International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 9th codes used in the search for cases were 325, 415.1, 451, 452, 453, 671.3, 671.4, 671.9 for the period 1994–1998, and the corresponding ICD-10 codes were I26, I67.6, I80, I81, I82, O22.3, O22.5, O87.1, and O87.3 for the period 1999–2012. Trained personnel, who were unaware of patients' baseline variables, reviewed the medical journal for each potential VTE case. For subjects derived from the hospital discharge registry and the radiology procedure registry, an episode of VTE was verified and recorded as a validated outcome when all four of the following criteria were fulfilled; (1) signs and symptoms consistent with DVT or PE were present

(2) objective confirmation by diagnostic procedures (e.g. compression ultrasound of the whole leg, venography, CTPA, perfusion-ventilation scan [VQ-scan], or autopsy), (3) the patient's medical records indicated a diagnosis of DVT or PE made by a physician, and (4) the patient received treatment for VTE (anticoagulant medication, thrombolysis, or vascular surgery) unless contraindications were specified. For subjects derived from the autopsy registry, a VTE event was recorded as an outcome when the autopsy record (death certificate) indicated VTE as cause of death or as a significant condition contributing to death.

Verified VTE events were classified as DVT or a PE, and if DVT and PE occurred concurrently, the event was recorded as a PE. The events were further classified as cancer-related, unprovoked or provoked based on the presence of cancer or other provoking factors at the time of VTE diagnosis. The presence of cancer was defined as overt cancer at the time of VTE diagnosis (or, in some cases, if cancer was diagnosed on the same day as the VTE). VTEs occurring in patients with active cancer were classified as cancer-related regardless of other risk factors. A VTE occurring without any provoking factor was defined as unprovoked. In patients without cancer, a VTE event was defined as provoked if one or more of the following factors were present: recent hospitalization, surgery or trauma, (within eight weeks before the event), acute medical condition (acute MI, acute ischemic stroke, acute infections), immobilization (bed rest [3 days or confinement to wheelchair within the last 8 weeks, or long distance travel ≥4 hours within the last 14 days), or other factor specifically described as provoking by a physician in the medical record (e.g. intravascular catheter).

3.2.2 Identification and validation of recurrent VTE events

In the Tromsø Study, all VTE recurrences and deaths among the study participants were recorded during 1994 to 2012. Recurrent VTEs were identified and validated with the same approaches and criteria as used for first VTE described above. Information on deaths was collected from the Norwegian Population Registry by use of the unique national person identification number.

3.3 Myocardial infarction as exposure

In Paper IV, we used MI as an exposure variable. In the Tromsø Study, all first-time events of MI were identified by searching the hospital and out of hospital medical records, the autopsy registry, and death certificates, as described previously (51). The national unique 11-digit identification number allowed linkage to national and local diagnosis registries and to the National Causes of Death Registry at Statistics Norway. This linkage allowed identification of fatal MI events that occurred as out-of-hospital deaths, including deaths that occurred outside Tromsø. The death certificate was used to gather relevant information on the MI events from additional sources, like autopsy reports, reports from nursing homes, ambulance services and general practitioners. Cases of incident MI were identified by linkage to the Discharge Diagnosis Registry at the University Hospital of North Norway with search for ICD 9 codes 410-414 during the years 1994 to 1998 and afterwards ICD 10 codes 120-125. The hospital medical records were case validated by an independent end-point committee. Slightly modified World Health Organization MONICA (Monitoring of Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease)/MORGAM (MONICA Risk, Genetics, Archiving and Monograph Project) criteria for MI were used; these included clinical symptoms and signs, findings in electrocardiograms (ECG), values of cardiac biomarkers, and autopsy reports when applicable. In our study, a history of MI was defined as an MI that occurred before the first VTE.

3.4 Multiple Environmental and Genetic Assessment of Risk Factors for Venous

Thrombosis (MEGA) follow-up study

The aim of the MEGA follow-up study was to assess the incidence of recurrent VTE events and to identify novel risk factors and predictors of recurrence. The patients in the MEGA follow-up study were recruited from the population-based case-control MEGA study, the details of which have been described elsewhere (71, 172). Briefly, the *MEGA study* included 4 956 patients, aged 18 to 70 years, with a first objectively confirmed DVT of the leg, PE or both from 6 anticoagulation clinics in The

Netherlands, in the period between March 1, 1999 and August 31, 2004, (participation rate 86%). VTE events were classified as isolated DVT or an isolated PE, and if DVT and PE occurred concurrently, the event was recorded as both. Patients with an upper extremity venous thrombosis were excluded. Each potential VTE case was reviewed and validated by trained personnel by assessment of each patient's medical record. Of the participants in the MEGA case-control study, only cases were further followed for recurrence (MEGA follow-up study). For this, 225 did not consent to participate. Thus, 4 731 patients were eligible for the MEGA follow-up study, and these patients were followed from their first VTE. Between 2007 and 2009, the vital status of all MEGA follow-up patients were obtained from the Dutch Population Register. Causes of death were obtained from the National Registry of Death Certificates at the Central Bureau of Statistics and encoded according to the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM). Between June 2008 and July 2009, questionnaires concerning recurrent VTE were sent by mail to all survivors and consenting individuals, and supplemented by telephone interviews. Additional information on recurrences was acquired from the regional anticoagulation clinics and from hospitals. The end of follow-up was defined as the date of recurrence, date of death or migration, or the date of returning the follow-up questionnaire (the last questionnaire was returned on April 8, 2010). If patients did not respond to the questionnaire, they were censored from the last date the study investigators knew them to be recurrence-free (i.e., last visit to the anticoagulation clinic).

In the MEGA follow-up study, potential cases of incident MI were identified by linkage to the Dutch Hospital Data Registry. For each hospital admission, information on the date of admission and discharge, diagnoses and surgical procedures was available. The diagnosis codes for MI were ICD-9-CM codes 410.0-410.9 and ICD-10-CM code I21. The percentage of correctly coded MI has been reported to be nearly 100% (173). In MEGA follow-up, a history of MI was defined as an MI that occurred before the first VTE.
4. Main results

4.1 Paper I

Time trends in incidence rates of venous thromboembolism in a large cohort recruited from the general population

Alterations of risk factor levels, prevention strategies, diagnostic tools and treatment modalities over time may alter the rate of venous thromboembolism (VTE) in a community. Changes in the incidence of VTE during the last two decades have not been extensively studied. Therefore, we studied time trends in the incidence rates of DVT and PE in a large population-based cohort. A total of 26 855 participants, aged 25-97 years, were enrolled in the Tromsø study between 1994 and 1995. The participants were followed-up to December 31st 2012. All symptomatic, objectively confirmed, incident VTEs were identified using multiple sources (hospital discharge diagnosis registry, radiology procedure registry and autopsy registry) and validated by review of medical records. Age-adjusted biennial incidence rates per 100 000 PY with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated using Poisson regression. Between January 1, 1996 and December 31, 2012, 693 VTEs occurred during 368 150 PY of follow up. The incidence rate of VTE increased from 158 (95% CI 116–199) in 1996/1997 to 201 (95% CI 160–243) per 100 000 PY in 2010/2011. There was a marked increase in the rates of PE (with/without concurrent DVT) ranging from 45 (95% CI 23–67) in 1996/1997 to 113 (95% CI 82–144) in 2010/2011, whereas the rates of isolated DVT decreased (112, 95% CI 77-146 in 1996/1997 and 88, 95% CI 61-115 in 2010/2011). Despite advances in prophylaxis, the incidence rate of VTE has increased slightly during the last 15 years, mainly due to an increase in PE. Although the introduction of better diagnostic tools to some extent may explain the increase in PE rates, our findings suggest that there is still a need for improvement in risk factor management and prevention strategies of first time VTE.

4.2 Paper II

Recurrence and mortality after first venous thromboembolism in a large population-based cohort

The recurrence and mortality rates after a first episode of VTE vary considerably in previous reports, and most of the studies were conducted several decades ago. Advances in the management and treatment of VTE during the last 15 years may have influenced the rates of clinical outcomes. Therefore, we aimed to estimate the rates of recurrence and mortality after a first VTE in patients recruited from a large population-based cohort. We used the Tromsø 4 Study which included 710 patients with a first, symptomatic, objectively confirmed VTE followed between 1994 and 2012. Recurrent episodes of VTE were identified from multiple sources (hospital discharge diagnosis registry, radiology procedure registry and autopsy registry) and carefully validated by review of patients' medical records. Information of deaths was obtained from the National Population Registry of Norway. Incidence rates and cumulative incidence rates with 95% CIs of VTE recurrence and mortality were calculated. The mean age of the patients was 68 years (range 28 to 102 years), and 166 (23.4%) had cancer at the time of first VTE. There were 114 VTE recurrences and 333 deaths during a median study period of 7.7 years (range 0.04 to 18.2 years). The risk of recurrence was highest during the first year. The overall 1-year recurrence rate was 7.8 (95% CI 5.8–10.6) per 100 PY, whereas the recurrence rate in the remaining follow-up period (1 to 18 years) was 3.0 (95% CI 2.4–3.8) per 100 PY. The risk of dying was highest in the first year following the VTE. The overall 1-year all-cause mortality rate was 29.9 (95% CI 25.7–34.8) per 100 PY, and in those without cancer the corresponding rate was 23.6 (95% CI 17.8–31.3) per 100 PY. Despite advances in VTE management, the rates of adverse events remained fairly high, particularly in the first year following a first VTE.

4.3 Paper III

Hospital-related first venous thromboembolism and risk of recurrence

Hospitalization is a well-established risk factor for first VTE, and previous studies suggest that hospitalization is one of the most important factors influencing the risk of VTE. However, the risk of recurrence, particularly in patients hospitalized for conditions other than cancer or surgery, has scarcely been investigated. The cumulative incidence of recurrence in hospital-related VTE may be influenced by the competing risk of death and may result in an over-estimation of the recurrence risk. Competing risk for death analysis should be taken into consideration when the rate of death differs greatly between two study groups. Therefore, we aimed to investigate the risk of recurrence and mortality among patients with a first hospital-related VTE in models with and without death as a competing event. Information on hospital-related risk factors was collected in 822 patients with a firstlifetime VTE derived from the Tromsø study 1 to 6 surveys occurring in the period from 1994 to 2012. Recurrent VTEs and deaths were recorded in the follow-up period (1994 to 2012). During a median of 2.79 years of follow-up, 132 patients experienced a recurrent VTE. Stratification on hospital-related factors revealed considerable differences in recurrence risk. The 5-year cumulative incidence of recurrence was 27.4%, 11.0% and 20.1% in patients with incident VTEs related to cancer, surgery or other medical illness, respectively, and 18.4% in patients with a non-hospital-related first VTE. The mortality rates were high for all subgroups of hospital-related VTE, except for surgery-related events. Consequently, the cumulative incidence of recurrence dropped in the competing risk analyses, showing a 5-year cumulative incidence of 14.4%, 11.7% and 9.7% in patients with a first VTE related to hospitalization for other medical illness, cancer or surgery, respectively. Our findings suggest that patients with incident VTEs related to hospitalization for medical illness other than cancer or surgery have a high recurrence-risk, even in the presence of competing risk of death.

4.4 Paper IV

Myocardial infarction is a risk factor for venous thromboembolism recurrence in women with a first VTE.

Previous reports suggest that MI is a transient risk factor for VTE. Whether patients with a history of MI and VTE have an increased risk of VTE recurrence, remains unsettled. Therefore, we aimed to assess whether a history of MI was associated with risk of VTE recurrence in a cohort of patients with incident VTE. A total of 5494 VTE patients were recruited from the Tromsø Study and the MEGA follow-up study, and followed from the date of their first VTE until the date of recurrence, death, or emigration, or the end of the study period (Tromsø: Dec 31, 2012; MEGA: date of filling in the short questionnaire. The last questionnaire was returned on April 8, 2010). Cox regression models were used to calculate hazard ratios (HR) with 95% CI for VTE recurrence according to the history of MI adjusted for age, body mass index, cancer, and surgery. As a statistical interaction was found between history of MI and sex, and therefore, the analyses were further stratified by sex. During a median follow up of 11.2 years, 792 patients experienced a recurrent VTE. In women, a history of MI was associated with 2.4-fold increased risk of VTE recurrence (HR 2.44; 95% CI 1.27-4.69). No association between a history of MI and VTE recurrence was observed in men (HR 1.17; 95% CI 0.70-1.94). In women with a history of MI, the 5year cumulative incidence of recurrence was similar to that in men both with and without a history of MI. Our findings suggest that MI is a persistent rather than a transient risk factor for VTE particularly in women.

5. General discussion

5.1 Methodological consideration

5.1.1 Study design

The first three papers in this thesis utilized data from the Tromsø Study, which is a large prospective population-based cohort. In paper IV, we additionally merged VTE patients from the first six surveys of the Tromsø Study with the MEGA follow-up study, yielding a cohort of VTE patients. The term "cohort" comes via the French word "cohorte" from the Latin word "cohors" in the 15th century. A cohort was originally a standard military unit in the ancient Roman army, and 10 cohorts made up a Roman legion. Each cohort, comprising of 300 to 600 warriers, could be traceable during each battle. In the mid-20th century, its meaning was extended, to any group of individuals with something in common. In epidemiology, cohort means a group of people who share a common characteristic or experience within a defined period. In a cohort study design, a well-defined population is selected and the participants' exposure status is recorded at study entry. Subsequent to this, the outcome of interest is investigated and compared in non-exposed and exposed individuals. In Papers I-IV, study participants were followed from the date of inclusion in the study until they were censored. *Censoring* is a process for dealing with follow up time when the event of interest (outcome) does not happen during the overall follow up period. Typically, this is due to death or migration or other reasons for loss to follow up, or may be because part of the sample survive the complete follow up time without experiencing the outcome (174). In our study, participants were censored by death, the end of the study period or, migration. In Paper I and II the source population was participants from Tromsø 4, whereas in Paper III and IV the source population comprised of individuals participating in one or more of the Tromsø 1-6 surveys who were still alive and inhabitants of the municipality of Tromsø by January 1, 1994, since the VTE registry was started in 1994. Individuals with a known history of VTE at baseline were excluded from the analysis.

A cohort study is useful in estimating the absolute and relative risks of a disease. In Paper I, incident VTE events and in Paper II, III and IV, recurrent VTE events during the study period were registered and absolute risk estimates in terms of incidence rates and relative risk estimates in terms of hazard ratios were obtained, respectively.

A cohort study has many advantages compared to other observational studies, such as casecontrol studies and cross-sectional surveys. Cohort studies have a *temporal sequence* of exposure and outcome, which is one of the Bradford Hill criteria for establishing causality (175), and the outcome does not influence the exposure status since exposure(s) of interest is determined before the occurrence of outcome. The retrospective nature of case-control studies makes this design susceptible to temporal bias (reverse causality), as it cannot be established certainly whether the associated variable is a response to rather than a cause of the disease. Another advantage of cohort studies lies in large number of participants which may allow for generalizability of study results to other populations. Furthermore, cohort studies are non-experimental in nature, and therefore ethically safe. However, a cohort design is not the most efficient approach when the incidence of disease is low as it is both time consuming and requires a large number of individuals to be followed up for long periods before a sufficient number of cases occurs to generate statistically meaningful results. Case-control studies are therefore more appropriate for investigating rare diseases as case-control studies are both cost and resource effective.

5.1.2 Bias

Errors, particularly bias, is a principal interest in epidemiological studies and are the prime basis for incorrect results of epidemiologic investigations. Sources of error in measurements are classified as either systematic or random (176). *Systematic errors* depend on any flaw that systematically leads to an over- or under-estimation of association between the exposure and the outcome, and this type of error is independent of sample size (176). For example, if the device we use to measure blood pressure

(sphygmomanometer), systematically over or underestimates the true blood pressure of the individual being evaluated. Rothman defines *random error* as "nothing more than variability in the data that cannot be readily explained" (176). It's the error that remains after systematic error is eliminated. Random errors can be minimized by increasing the sample size. For example, if we measure serum creatinine level three times in the same individual using the same instrument and the same laboratory reagents, we are likely to obtain slightly different values due to clinical fluctuations in the serum creatinine level. Bias may threaten the internal and external validity of a study. The list of biases is a long one, however, Rothman classify bias into three broad categories: selection bias, information bias, and confounding (176).

Selection bias (or Berksonian bias) arises when a systematic error occurs in the enrollment of individuals in a study, and results in a biased association between the exposure and the outcome. Selection bias is more likely to occur in case-control studies than in cohort studies, because, in cohort studies, both exposed and unexposed individuals are selected to the study before the occurrence of the outcome. In contrast, both the exposure and outcome have occurred by the time the patient is recruited into a case-control study. In case-control studies, selection bias may occur when individuals selected as controls are not representative of the population that produced the cases. For example, in a hospital-based case-control study looking at the association between alcohol consumption and the development of liver cirrhosis, the association could potentially be underestimated if controls are taken from a trauma ward. This is because consumption of alcohol in large quantity may result in injury and consequently, an admission to the trauma ward. Self-selection is an issue that can threaten the external validity (generalizability) of a study. Self-section bias occurs when individuals select themselves into a group. For example, in the six Tromsø surveys, all, or parts, of the population living in the municipality of Tromsø were invited to participate. Although the attendance rates were high (177), invited individuals who did not attend the Tromsø Study tended to be younger (< 35 years), or older (> 80 years), were more often men and more likely to be single (177). A participation required physical attendance at the study site, and therefore, selection bias due to lower attendance rate in the

severely ill or disabled is likely to have occurred. VTE tend to occur more often in the elderly population, and under-representation of this part of the population may reduce the external validity of the results for this group. It is worth mentioning, however, that selection bias between health survey attendees and non-attendees is probably most theoretical. Since the attendance rate in Tromsø surveys was high, it is unlikely that this bias has a significant impact on our results. In Paper I, absolute risks (i.e. IRs) are predominately reported and we may perhaps expect a minor underestimation of our IRs for VTE in the elderly. However, in Papers II-IV, relative risks (i.e. HRs) are mainly reported, and thus, our results would not be largely affected. In general, non-respondents in population-based surveys tend to have low socioeconomic status and higher mortality than attendees (178). However, it is not likely that the low participation rates and higher proportion of non-attendees with a low socioeconomic status has a large impact on the validity of the study results in this cohort, as the social class differences in Scandinavia are negligible compared to the rest of the world.

In epidemiological studies, *information bias* refers to bias arising from measurement error. This systematic error is also denoted as observational bias or *misclassification*. The term misclassification refers to an error in the classification of an exposure or the disease. For instance, misclassification occurs when an exposed individual is classified as unexposed or vice versa, or when a diseased individual is classified as non-diseased or vice versa. An example of misclassification is when normotensive individuals are categorized as hypertensive and vice versa due to the use of an inaccurate instrumentation (e.g. one size blood pressure cuff to take measurements on both lean and obese adults). Misclassification of individuals can be differential or non-differential (179). *Differential misclassification bias* refers to errors on one axis (exposure or disease) that are related to the other axis (exposure or disease). It can lead to either over- or under-estimation of the true association. *Recall bias* is a classic example of a differential exposure misclassification. Recall bias may occur when the recalled exposure differs between the cases and controls. For instance, patients (cases) are much more prone to remember relevant exposures than healthy controls. *Non-differential misclassification bias* refers to errors on one axis that are unrelated to the other axis and such errors tend to be equally

distributed among cases and non-cases. This means that exposure is equally misclassified in cases and controls. For example, self-reported questionnaires is a possible source of misclassification, as items in the questionnaires may be misunderstood or the participants may over- or under-report their exposure level. For binary variables, non-differential misclassification tends to bias the association towards the null value (180). Cohort studies are more prone to non-differential misclassification, because exposure in a cohort study is usually measured before the onset of outcome (disease) of interest.

In epidemiological and clinical studies, misclassification of both exposure and outcome is likely to occur. In all four papers in this thesis, the exposure and outcome variables were mainly extracted from the patients' medical records by trained professionals or from validated registries (i.e. VTE and MI variables). Paper IV used information from the Tromsø Study and the MEGA follow-up study. In the Tromsø Study, the VTE and MI registries are separate, complete, and validated registries. In the Tromsø study, incident VTE events among study individuals were registered retrospectively at the end of follow-up by searching the hospital discharge diagnosis registry, the radiology procedure registry and the autopsy registry at the University Hospital of North Norway. This is the only hospital in the region to provide inpatient care and diagnostic procedures to the inhabitants of the municipality of Tromsø, and this increases confidence in thoroughness and completeness of the VTE Registry. We did a thorough search through all these registries to detect all cases treated at this hospital. However, some VTE cases could potentially have been missed due to diagnosis and treatment outside the region. With the purpose to make disease manifestation as certain as possible, the outcomes (incident VTEs in Paper I and VTE recurrences in Paper II, III and IV) were validated. We assured that the possibility of false positive VTE events was limited by following the strict validation criteria described in the methods section. For instance, by using these criteria, an asymptomatic venous thrombus that was identified by chance using computed tomography (CT) scan and remained untreated with anticoagulants would not be considered a clinical event.

Retrospective registration is dependent on valid and complete information, and incomplete information from patients' record could lead to inaccuracy. Therefore, regardless of using criteria for the validation of the outcome event, misclassification of VTE cases cannot be completely ruled out. Since the personnel who registered VTE events were blinded to the baseline information, any misclassification of VTE was most likely non-differential (called non-differential outcome misclassification). Thus, the misclassification was likely to be similar between the study individuals irrespective of whether they experienced the outcome. There were no standard instructions for reporting presence of clinical risk factors and provoking factors in the medical record and classification of an event as unprovoked or provoked relied on information provided by the individual physician who examined the VTE patient. In case information on the presence of a provoking factor (for example history of surgery during the last three months) was missing, a provoked VTE would be misclassified as unprovoked VTE. This could be a minor concern in Paper II and III where risk of recurrences were estimated according to the classification of the index VTE.

Additionally, we did not have verified baseline information on previous history of VTE among the study individuals. Thus, some of the individuals who were treated as healthy during follow-up could be prevalent VTE cases who, ideally, should be excluded from the study population. For instance, in Paper I, the prevalent VTE cases may have contributed with person-years at risk while calculating the VTE incidence rates. However, as this concerns only a small fraction of the individuals, the effect on the incidence rates is most likely negligible.

In the MEGA follow-up study, the VTE registration was validated as described in the method section. However, MI information was taken from the Dutch Hospital Data Registry because no separate MI registry exists. The percentage of correctly coded MI in the Dutch Hospital Data Registry has been found to be almost 100% (173). Participants of the MEGA follow-up study were linked to this registry through date of birth, sex and postal code. There could be some missing data regarding MI cases in the Dutch Hospital Data Registry and that may potentially be a source of misclassification.

Nevertheless, this potential misclassification of MI would most likely be non-differential since information regarding MI and incident VTE were collected prior to the outcome (VTE recurrence). Such misclassification may have caused underestimation of the true association between MI-related VTE and VTE recurrence in our study.

5.1.3 Generalizability

The validity of a study is usually separated into two components: internal and external validity. *Internal validity* refers to whether the inferences drawn are true to the members of the source population, whereas *external validity* is the degree to which the inferences drawn from a study can be applicable to a broader population beyond the study population (176). All types of studies in epidemiology raise concerns about extrapolation of study findings, which means "*generalizability*" from the study sample to the target population or to other populations or to the entire world.

High external validity means that the results of our study (Paper I to IV) can not only be generalized to the population of Tromsø but to the Norwegian and Scandinavian populations, and even to other Western populations. The VTE incidence found in our population (Paper I, II) is comparable to the incidence reported in other Western populations (28) (123). The Tromsø Study is a large population-based survey, reflecting the general population of the Tromsø municipality aged 25 years and above. The attendance rate range from 66% in Tromsø 6 to up to 83% in Tromsø 1 (177). The MEGA follow-up study also has a high attendance rate, as 79% of the invited population attended (181).

In the Tromsø Study, some groups of people are better represented than others. For example, in the Tromsø 4 survey, the participation rate was low for the youngest (< 35 years) and oldest (> 80 years) population (58.5% and 46.3% respectively), and men had a lower participation rate than women (69.6% versus 74.9% respectively) (177). This threatens the generalizability towards these subgroups. As selection biases are one of the significant threats to external validity, the age-specific participation

rates and their effects on generalizability are mentioned in detail in the selection bias section. In the MEGA study, generalizability to elderly population (i.e. >70 years) could be an issue because patients were included in the study if they experienced their first event of VTE before they were 70 years old (182). Moreover, the majority of individuals in the Tromsø cohort and MEGA study were of Caucasian origin. Due to the limited ethnic diversity, the findings of our studies may not be representative of other ethnic groups.

As previously discussed, respondents in health surveys are generally considered to be more health conscious compared to the general population. Also, individuals who are ill or institutionalised are unlikely to attend health examinations. This bias between respondents and non-respondents may have affected our results; though only marginally, leading to an underestimation of the true incidence rates (IRs), as in Paper I, where absolute risks (e.g. IRs) are predominately reported.

5.1.4 Missing data

Missing observations is a common phenomenon in large cohorts. Missing observations could be due to multiple reasons, such as inadequate responses by the study participants to the questionnaires, participants being lost to follow-up, not all the selected individuals responding to a postal questionnaire survey, failure of the study equipment, or laboratory samples being lost or in a technically dissatisfactory condition (183). Missing data may affect the analysis. There are many ways of handling missing observations in the analysis. One approach is to omit variables with much missing information. An alternative is to omit study participants with incomplete data. Yet another option is to use imputation techniques (estimation) to replace missing values. Imputation refers to the replacement of a missing variable by an estimated value of that variable as derived from the available observed data.

Missing data may introduce bias; though it largely depends on the reasons why data is missing. Missing data are generally classified as (i) missing completely at random, (ii) missing at random, and (iii) missing not at random. *Missing completely at random* means no systematic differences between the missing values and the observed values. For example, blood pressure measurements may be missing due to the breakdown of the sphygmomanometer. *Missing at random* includes any systematic difference between the missing values and the observed values that can be explained by differences in the observed data. For example, if only males have missing values in a depression survey, the probability of missing data on depression will be related to sex. *Missing not at random* means that systematic differences remain between missing values and observed values even after the observed data are taken into account (184). A prerequisite for imputation is that the missing data is "missing at random". If data is missing completely at random, analyses of only those with complete data will give valid inferences. Deletions may introduce bias if the number of excluded individuals is high and if the characteristics of those with missing values differ significantly from the ones included. Deletion may results in reduced statistical power.

5.1.5 Statistical interaction

The term *statistical interaction* applies to a situation in which the magnitude of the effect of an exposure differs depending on the level of a third variable. This variable is called "effect modifier" and this phenomenon is also known as *effect modification* (180). Not like confounding, where the true association may be weakened or strengthened, interaction can result in variation in the risk estimates across strata of this third variable (180). The presence of statistical interaction is generally assessed in the regression analysis by entering a cross product term into the regression model. When an interaction is present, one common way of dealing with it is by stratifying the data on the effect modifying variable.

In Paper IV, we assessed whether a history of MI was associated with risk of VTE recurrence in a cohort of patients with incident VTE. Epidemiological studies have shown that males have a higher VTE recurrence than females (127, 134). In addition, the incidence of MI is higher in males than in females (185). We found a statistical interaction between MI-related VTE and sex i.e. the magnitude of the effect of exposure (MI before first lifetime VTE) on the outcome (VTE recurrence) varied according to the presence of a third variable (sex). Therefore, subsequent analyses were stratified on sex and the risk was increased in females but not in males. Stratification can sometimes be troublesome because increasing number of strata can limit the statistical power, since many of the strata may contain few people. This can lead to unreliable risk estimates. Lack of statistical power was a concern in Paper IV therefore, it was not possible to do further stratification.

5.1.6 Confounding

In epidemiology, a *confounding* factor (a third variable) is associated with the exposure and the outcome but is not an intermediate variable in the causal pathway between exposure and outcome (180). A variable laying on the causal pathway between exposure and outcome is called a "*mediator*". Confounding if present, may weaken, strengthen or possibly change the direction of the association between the exposure and the outcome (180). Unlike experimental studies where the use of randomization reduces the likelihood of confounders, cohort studies have a potential issue of confounding. It is therefore necessary to adjust associations for possible confounders.

In cohort studies, i) stratification, ii) multivariate analysis (modeling) and iii) standardisation (direct and indirect) are the analytical methods that are used to control for confounding effects (180). *Stratification*, includes dividing the study population into strata, or subgroups, based on the confounder and analyse the risk in these strata (180). *Multivariable analysis* is a statistical technique used to carry out *adjustment* where potential confounding variables are included as covariates in the regression model (180). In Paper II, III and IV, the Cox regression models were adjusted for sex and age at the time of incident VTE. In Paper II and III, while investigating the risk of VTE recurrence in patients with incident VTE, one concern was whether duration of anticoagulant treatment differed among comparison groups. Therefore, in addition to age and sex, we adjusted the Cox model for the planned

duration of anticoagulant treatment in Paper II. Likewise, in Paper III adjustment for planned duration for anticoagulant treatment was done when comparing hospital-related VTE and non-hospital-related VTE. In both conditions, the risk estimates (HR) were unchanged. Therefore, duration of anticoagulation was not a confounding variable in these groups of patients. While investigating allcause mortality in Paper II, we found a higher mortality rate in females than in males. This was due to a higher age of females at the index date, as the risk estimates changed after adjustment for age at incident VTE event. Therefore, age at the time of incident VTE event was a confounder for the association between sex and VTE-related mortality.

Direct standardisation is used to control for confounding effects of age and sex in Paper I. Rothman defines standardisation as "a method of combining category-specific rates into a single summary value by taking a weighted average". The weights used in averaging come from a standard population (176). In epidemiological studies, two methods of standardisation are commonly used. In the direct standardisation method, a common age-structured population is used as a standard, whereas in the *indirect standardisation* method a common set of age-specific rates is applied to the populations whose rates are to be standardized. In Paper I, we described 16-years' time trends in incidence rates of VTE in a large cohort. We calculated overall crude incidence rates of VTE and expressed as number of events per 100 000 PY. We have used both direct and indirect standardisation in our study. For the purpose of comparison, we used the direct standardisation method and calculated the overall incidence rate of VTE standardised towards the "World Health Organization (WHO) standard population 2000-2025" (186). Age standardized rates account for the differences in the age structure of the populations being compared (180). Since Tromsø 4 is a closed cohort, the age distribution of the individuals would change over time. To be able to compare the rates over time, we therefore calculated age-adjusted biennial incidence rates of VTE, DVT and PE for the periods 1996/97, 1998/99, 2000/01, 2002/03, 2004/05, 2006/07, 2008/09 and 2010/11 using Poisson regression. With the purpose to investigate whether the change in the incidence of PE and DVT could be attributed to

certain age group, we compared the age-specific incidence rates in the first half period (i.e. 1996-2003) with the second half period (i.e. 2004-2012).

In Paper II and III, we used age as a time-scale. Typically in cohort studies, the time-scale used in the Cox regression model is time-on-study, and age is added as a covariate to the model for the purpose of adjustment. In the time-on-study scale, individuals start follow-up at the calendar time (date) they are included into a study and are followed-up until the date they are censored (experience the outcome, drop out or end of follow-up). When age is used as a time-scale, follow-up begins at the age a person is at study inclusion, and his/her age at censoring (occurrence of outcome or end of follow-up) is the exit-time. The risk of VTE is more dependent on age than the time the person has been in the study. Accordingly, using age as the time-scale, the risk of VTE in study individuals is compared in people of the same age, instead of in people with the same duration of follow-up (187). Therefore, it is more reasonable to use age as a time scale than time-on study as time scale. Age as the time scale approach is considered appropriate in longitudinal studies with a large sample size, since many people are represented in each age group.

Even after using various methods to control for confounding in our analyses, the possibility of *residual confounding* cannot be ruled out. "Residual confounding is a term for confounding that remains even after many confounding variables have been controlled" (179). Residual confounding can occur if data regarding confounders is not collected, if there are differences in risk within a confounder category, or if confounder misclassification is present (179).

5.1.7 Competing risk of death

The concept of censoring is a characteristic feature of survival analysis. In prospective studies, if an individual is lost to follow-up (for instance due to migration) that individual is treated as censored because whether that person experienced outcome of interest or not, remains unknown. Death is often handled as a censoring event in prospective studies, and death from any cause may prevent the

outcome from occurring. An assumption of censored survival time is that censoring should be *non-informative*. This means that at any given point in time, individuals who remain in the study have the same future risk of developing the outcome as those who are no longer under follow-up. In Paper II, patients with cancer-related VTE had higher mortality rates than those without cancer (provoked and unprovoked) and therefore, censoring occurred differently in these exposure categories. Similarly, the mortality rate was expected to be higher among patients with co-morbid conditions (in Paper III).

Competing risk regression is the most commonly used statistical technique when occurrence of one event is likely to alter the chance of another event (143). Cancer (in Paper II) and other comorbidities (in Paper III) are associated with increased mortality and hence death may have interfered with the outcome of interest (VTE recurrence). In routinely used traditional time-to-event analysis methods such as the Kaplan-Meier estimator (1-KM), the log-rank test (LRT) or the Cox proportional hazards model, when a death occurs, the probability of a subsequent VTE drops to zero. To address this issue, Fine and Gray introduced a statistical model which can account for competing events, like death (143). The competing risk of death methods do not censor patients on the date of death. Therefore, the probability of experiencing the outcome of interest is presented irrespective of competing mortality. This theoretically leads to unbiased and perhaps more meaningful results (141).

Ay *et al.* compared competing risk of death analysis with traditional time-to-event approaches (1-KM, LRT and Cox regression) on the risk of VTE in a cohort of cancer patients (140). They concluded that traditional methods (1-KM and Cox regression) provided biased estimates of VTE risk, inferring that risk of VTE was over-estimated when compared with competing risk regression (140, 188). The authors suggested that competing risk of death analysis should be considered in populations at high risk of death, randomized trials with interventions that have a differential effect on death rates, non-randomized trials with diverse death rates between groups, and in risk score developmental studies (prognostic studies) that may potentially have an impact on medical decision making (140). Conversely, traditional analysis methods are suitable for studies dealing with etiological questions.

Competing risk of death analysis was performed in Paper II and III. The risk of VTE recurrence was compared in cancer-related, provoked and unprovoked VTE (Paper II), and in hospital-related and non-hospital-related VTE (Paper III). As expected, the risk estimates were over-estimated using Cox regression when compared with competing risk regression in Papers II and III. In Paper II, when evaluating the risk of VTE recurrence in patients with cancer-related VTE compared to patients with provoked and unprovoked VTE, there was a difference in the risk estimates between the traditional method (1-KM) and the competing risk of death regression approach. The 5-year cumulative incidence rates for cancer-related VTE using 1-KM and competing risk regression were 26.4% and 11.4% respectively. This difference in the risk estimates between the traditional method and competing risk of differences in mortality among cancer and non-cancer patients. Accordingly, the cumulative incidence of VTE recurrence did not differ greatly between 1-KM method and competing risk regression in provoked VTE (16.7% versus 14.4%) and unprovoked VTE (17.9% versus 16.1%). This is as expected as the mortality rates did not differ much in unprovoked and provoked VTE.

5.2 Discussion of main results

5.2.1 Venous thromboembolism: incidence, recurrence, and mortality

In Paper I, we described trends in the incidence of VTE in a large population-based cohort from 1996 to 2012. Within a well-defined geographical area (i.e. the Tromsø municipality) we observed a 27% increase in the overall age-adjusted incidence of VTE throughout the study period, from 158 to 201 per 100 000 PY in the period 1996/97- 2010/11. The observed incremental trend was largely due to an increase in the rate of PE throughout the study period. The age-adjusted IRs of PE increased by 151% from 45 to 113 per 100 000 PY, while the rates of DVT decreased by 21% from 112 to 88 per 100 000 PY during the study period. Our results indicate that despite advances in thromboprophylaxis, the annual incidence rates of VTE have increased during the last couple of decades. Hence, VTE remains a growing public health challenge.

Studies from other countries have reported similar results (39, 113). In agreement with our findings, the Worcester VTE Study, which included 3887 incident VTE cases, reported an increase in the age- and-sex-adjusted incidence rates of VTE by nearly 40% from 95 to 133 per 100 000 PY in the period 1999-2009. The rate of PE increased by 116% from 30 to 65 per 100 000 PY, whereas the rates of isolated DVT remained almost constant in the same period (39). Additionally, a study based on Medicare and commercial insurance databases reported that the U.S. prevalence of VTE increased by 33% from 317 to 422 per 100 000 PY in the period 2002-2006 (113). Contrary to our findings, Delluc *et al.* reported that the standardised overall annual incidence of VTE was reduced by 28% between 1998 and 2013, and this reduction was mainly driven by reduction in the incidence of DVT of 47%, whereas the standardized annual incidence of isolated PE significantly increased by 29% within the same period of time (37).

How might the observed increase in VTE incidence in our study be explained? The reason for the increase in the IRs of VTE during the study period is likely to be multifactorial. Predominately, the use of one or more noninvasive diagnostic methods for the detection of VTE increased approximately

three times during the study period. The proportion of patients with PE who underwent a highresolution multi-detector CTPA diagnostic test increased from approximately 23.1% in 1998/1999 to 76.0% in 2010/2011. Thus, the increasing age-adjusted incidence of PE corresponds well with the increased use of CTPA at our hospital from year 2000 and onwards, showing that we are detecting more PEs than before the introduction of newer technology. In a randomized controlled trial that compared CT scan with VQ scan for the management of patients with suspected PE, CT scan strategy resulted in a significant 30% increase in the number of PE diagnoses as compared with VQ scanning (189). In accordance with our findings, Wiener *et al.* (38) conducted a time trend analysis using the Nationwide In-patient Sample with Multiple Cause-of-Death databases, and demonstrated that the introduction of multi-detector CTPA was associated with an increasing frequency of PE in the U.S. In an Australian study, Segard *et al.* (190) found an increase in PE-related imaging from 2002-2010, which was exclusively driven by increased referrals for CTPA, resulting in more PE diagnoses, while the total number of deaths from PE in the population remained unchanged.

A challenging question is whether minor (subsegmental) PEs are of clinical significance? Indeed, the comparatively consistent mortality rate from PE during the last decades, combined with improved case fatality rates point towards overdiagnosis of PE (38, 190, 191). A systematic review and meta-analysis confirmed that many of the additional emboli identified by CTPA were subsegmental emboli that did not lead to adverse outcomes even if left untreated (124). Similar findings were observed in New York State's (NYS) Statewide Planning and Research Cooperative System (SPARCE) database (169). The SPARCE study suggested that the diagnosis of PE in NYS approximately doubled during 1994-2004, while deaths and hospital admissions in patients with PE remained relatively stable. If we take a closer look at our data, the age-adjusted IRs of PE increased by 84.4% during 1996-2005, but were almost constant during 2006-2011. This may indicate that with a wide use of multi-detector CTPA we had reached the maximum detection rate of PE after 2005. The apparent decline in DVT incidence during our study was most probably explained by the way PE was recorded (i.e. PE with or without coexisting clinical DVT). Detection of more PEs in patients with coexisting symptomatic DVT would consequently result in more events coded as PE rather than DVT. When the second half of the study period (2004-2012) was compared to the first half (1996-2003), the rates of PE appeared to be predominantly increased among those >70 years. The potential explanation could be a lower threshold to perform diagnostic procedures for the detection of PE in the elderly after the introduction of CTPA.

In addition to changes in the diagnostic assessment of VTE, an increase in the IR of VTE observed in our cohort could be related to changes in population characteristics over time. In general, the prevalence of major VTE risk factors such as ageing, obesity and cancer are increasing in Western populations (192). Despite more focus on the use of thromboprophylaxis during the last decades, the incidence of provoked VTE in our study did not decrease over time. This implies that there is still room for improvement in VTE prevention strategies.

In contrast to our findings, Delluc *et al.* (37) reported a decrease in the incidence of VTE in 2013 compared to 1998. It is worth mentioning that this study included both incident and prevalent VTE cases while calculating IRs. Additionally, the study was revolved around two cross-sectional measurements of all symptomatic VTE cases in 1998 and 2013. The IRs could be vulnerable to random fluctuations, and two separate measurements does not necessarily reflect a time-trend. The authors stated that the decrease in the VTE rates observed in their study could be related to a more widespread implementation of thromboprophylaxis in hospitalised patients.

After a first event, VTE has a strong tendency to recur (193). Advances in diagnostic procedures and medical management of VTE during the last decade may have influenced the outcome rates after a first VTE. In Paper II, incidence rates and cumulative incidence (also called cumulative proportion, risk) of recurrence and all-cause mortality after a first event of VTE were assessed. Our study extracted data during 1994-2012 from both hospital and community settings and the follow-up period started

immediately from the date of first VTE. Our cohort had a median follow-up of 2.7 years (range 1 day to 18.1 years) for recurrence and 3.4 years (range 1 day to 18 years) for mortality. This allowed us to describe the clinical epidemiology of VTE and subsequent outcome (recurrence and mortality) in detail.

The overall incidence rate of recurrent VTE per 100 PY was 3.9 but varied substantially over time with a peak at 9.2 in the first 6 months, falling to 6.3 at 6 months-1 year, and 2.3 at 5-10 years. The cumulative incidences were 4.3% at 6 months, 7.3% at 1 year, 18.8% at 5 years, and 28.3% at 10 years. Our recurrence rates were lower than those described in studies using a cohort derived from the United Kingdom Clinical Practice Research Datalink, which assessed the rates of recurrent VTE in patients with (114) and without cancer (194) during 2001-2012. Cohen et al. (114) reported an overall incidence rate of recurrent VTE per 100 PY of 9.6; 22.1 in first 6 months, and 7.9 at 6 months- 1 year. In the same study, the cumulative frequencies of recurrence at 6 months and 1 year were 7.4% and 9.2% respectively. The Worcester VTE study (166), conducted during 1999-2003, reported a 1-year cumulative incidence of recurrence of 10.7%, but did not assess long-term follow up. Heit et al. (23) investigated recurrence among 1719 patients with a first VTE in the period 1960-1999, and reported an overall cumulative incidence of recurrence of 10.1% at 6 months, 12.9% at 1 year, 22.0% at 5 years, and 30.4% at 10 years. Compared to the previous studies, our rates were lower in the initial year after the VTE, whereas the long-term rates were similar. At our hospital, all distal DVTs are treated with oral anticoagulants, and patients are often treated for 6-12 months. Nearly 65% of the VTE patients in our study were treated with anticoagulants for more than 3 months. Thus, extended duration of treatment in our hospital may to some extent explain the moderately lower 1-year recurrence risk compared to the other studies. The consistent long-term recurrence risk supported a catch-up, or rebound, effect after the initial treatment period.

In our study, the recurrence rates in all subgroups were highest during the first 6 months after the VTE despite the use of anticoagulant therapy during this period. This indicates the importance of recruiting patients at the time of event, especially for descriptive epidemiological purposes, because

studies may lose a significant number of cases that occur in the initial phase if follow-up is started after the withdrawal of anticoagulants (127).

In accordance with previous studies (125, 126), we found highest cumulative risk of recurrence among cancer patients. The mortality rate in patients with cancer-related VTE is high (114). Accordingly, when competing risk of death was taken into account, the cumulative risk of VTE recurrence in our study (Cox regression versus competing risk of death) was markedly lower (16.3% vs. 4.9% in the first year and 26.4% vs. 11.4% at 5 years). Moreover, the cumulative incidence of recurrence was lower in cancer-related VTE that in non-cancer related VTE when competing risk was taken into account. In contrast to our findings, Heit *et al.* (125) reported a higher 5-year cumulative incidence of recurrence in cancer-related VTE when compared with non-cancer-related VTE (34% versus 17%) even after taking competing risk into account. The difference in the results may partly be explained by differences in mortality rates between the studies, especially among cancer patients, the definition of active cancer, and the length of follow up. In unprovoked VTE cases, we found that the recurrence risk in the first 10 years of observation remained high even after competing risk of death versus 15.6%) and provoked VTE cases (25.8% versus 19.6%).

In our study, recurrence throughout the 10 years period was influenced by whether the index event was a DVT or PE. The recurrence risk was higher in patients who initially presented with DVT than in those who presented with PE (HR 1.45, 95% CI 0.96-2.18). In a Canadian study of 646 patients with a first symptomatic unprovoked VTE (132), patients with DVT as their index event had a 2-fold [RR 2.1 (95% CI 1.2-3.7)] higher risk of VTE recurrence than patients with PE as their index event. Similarly, Prandoni *et al.* (115) found that patients presenting with primary DVT were 1.4-fold (HR 1.44 95% CI 1.03-2.03) more likely to develop recurrence than patients with PE. A potential explanation for this phenomenon could be the higher fibrinolytic activity in the lungs (195), i.e. that the clot resolution in the lung may be more efficient than in the venous valve. Moreover, impaired coagulation inhibition could be another reason of DVT recurrence in patients with DVT at first place. Development of postthrombotic syndrome also predisposes recurrences in DVT (22). Additionally, the introduction of multidetector CTPA to diagnose PE may have led to increased detection of subsegmental PEs, which have a better prognosis regarding recurrence (38, 196).

The mode of presentation of the first VTE event (DVT or PE) predicts the type of recurrence (131). In accordance with previous studies (131, 193, 197-199), patients with a first PE had a 2.4-fold higher risk of experiencing second PE rather than a DVT in our study. Additionally, our findings showed that those with a first unprovoked VTE were more likely to have a second unprovoked VTE. This finding is in line with a cohort of patients with a first unprovoked VTE (200), where 90% of the recurrences were unprovoked. In our study, those with a first provoked VTE were at equal likelihood of experiencing provoked or unprovoked VTE as their second event. This could potentially be explained by residual vein thrombosis (201, 202) or other pathophysiologic alterations in the veins due to the first VTE that may enhance the risk of recurrence even in the absence of provoking factors.

Risk of recurrent VTE is strongly predicted by the sex of the patient (193). Like other studies (127, 136, 198, 203), our study showed that the overall recurrence risk was higher in men than in women. Most previous studies reported a 2- to 4-fold increased recurrence risk among men (127, 203). The 10-years cumulative risk of recurrence in our study was 35.4% in men and 22.0% in women. However, the relative risk of recurrence was only 30% higher in men than in women, and the difference was not statistically significant. In our study population, the VTE cases were limited to patients of \geq 25 years, and our data did not contain very young women with a first VTE related to oral contraceptives or pregnancy. In general, young women with hormone-related VTE have a lower risk of recurrence (193, 204), and consequently, the risk difference between men and women will be higher in such VTE population that contains these women. Furthermore, in our study, the cumulative incidence curves for VTE recurrence in men and women started to deviate three years after the initial event. This may to

some extent explain the higher relative risk differences in men versus women observed in studies with a later start of follow-up (after withdrawal of anticoagulants).

In a Norwegian study, Næss *et al.* (28) included 740 incident VTE cases during 1995-2001. The 1-year case-fatality rate was 21.6% in all VTE cases and 63.4% in VTE cases with cancer. In our study, the 1-year mortality rate after VTE remained high and was remarkably similar to that reported by Næss *et al.* (28). We found a lower survival among patients with provoked VTE than those with unprovoked VTE during the study period. This was probably explained by concurrent comorbid conditions and advancing age among patients with provoked VTE. We observed better survival rates among men in our crude analyses. This was, however, explained by the age differences among men and women at the time of first VTE.

Papers I and II confirm that the disease burden of VTE remains substantial. With high longterm morbidity, functional disability, and high rates of recurrence and mortality, VTE (205) remains a major health concern (15, 39, 206). Despite advances in thromboprophylaxis in the recent years, the annual event rate of VTE has increased over time (20, 39, 113). While this increase may partially be explained by improved sensitivity of diagnostic methods, it may also imply that current prevention and treatment strategies are not sufficient. Given the considerable economic burden of VTE (192, 207), imposed by the management of acute events and costs associated with long-term complications, further research is therefore needed to identify novel risk factors in the population in order to improve risk stratification, prevention, and management of VTE. Moreover, public health initiatives are greatly needed to increase awareness of symptoms and risk factors of VTE in the population. Treatment with anticoagulants is effective in preventing VTE recurrence (208) and a minimum of 3 months of anticoagulant treatment is recommended in all patients with VTE (3). Our study showed that the risk of adverse events remained high and continued for at least 10 years and even longer after the incident event. With a purpose to reduce the global burden of VTE, and hence improve patients' survival, future studies should focus on the development of risk prediction models with a purpose to stratify individuals who are at high risk of developing a VTE with a favourable balance of risks and benefits of anticoagulation treatment.

5.2.2 Hospital-related and myocardial infarction-related first venous

thromboembolism and risk of recurrence

In Paper III, we investigated the risk of recurrence and mortality among patients with first hospitalrelated VTE in models with and without death as a competing event. Studies have reported that the risk of recurrent VTE is generally low for transient risk factors (23, 129, 209) because the effect of the risk factor is reversible. Therefore, the momentary nature of hospitalisation could imply a low recurrence risk, and if this notion holds true, then there should be a low risk of recurrence among those with a first hospital-related VTE. However, in our study, hospitalisation (within 8 weeks preceding an incident VTE as well as patients admitted at the time of event) was not associated with a lower risk of recurrence. A hospital-related VTE per se was not associated with an increased risk of recurrent thrombosis in the age and sex adjusted model (HR 0.99). However, the reason for hospitalisation preceding the first event appeared to have a great influence on the risk of recurrence.

In the traditional Cox regression model, we found that the cumulative risk of VTE recurrence at 5 years was highest in patients with incident VTEs related to cancer (27.4%) followed by patients who were hospitalised for other medical illness within 8-weeks before first VTE (20.1%), and those with non-hospital-related VTE (18.4%). The lowest risk of recurrence was observed in patients who developed a first VTE after surgery (11.0%). Previous studies have also shown that patients with surgery-related first VTE have a low risk of recurrence (23, 121, 129, 130, 138, 154, 193, 209) whereas cancer, which is a persistent and often an irreversible risk factor, is associated with a high risk of recurrence (23, 121, 130, 154). In our study, a hospital-related first VTE was associated with a 3-fold higher risk of death compared with non-hospital-related VTE. Moreover, compared with non-hospital-related VTE, the risk of death was 7.4-fold and 2.2-fold among patients with a first VTE related to hospitalisation for cancer or other medical illness, respectively. In accordance, previous studies (156, 198, 210-212) have shown that acute medical conditions such as cardiac, neurological, pulmonary, hepatic, and renal diseases are associated with 2-fold to 4-fold increased risk of death in patients with VTE. We found that patients who developed VTE within 8-weeks after surgery had a 13% lower risk of mortality compared with non-hospital-related VTE, which is in agreement with results of previous studies (22, 156, 159, 213). When competing risk of death was taken into account, we found that the 5-year recurrence risk was markedly lowered for cancer (11.7%), and those hospitalised for other medical illness had the highest cumulative incidence (14.4%). This indicated a considerable role of hospital-related mortality in estimating recurrence risk among these patients.

The high risk of recurrence after a first VTE related to hospitalisation for medical illness points towards a persistent nature of the VTE risk in these subjects. Various chronic conditions, such as chronic heart and lung disease, and inflammatory or autoimmune disorders, are associated with coagulation and fibrinolytic abnormalities (214), endothelial dysfunction (214), platelet activation (215), and inflammation (214, 215), which may contribute to a prothrombotic state. Additionally, disease-specific mechanisms, such as hypoxia in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (215), and right ventricular failure with subsequent venous stasis in patients with congestive heart failure (216) may contribute to VTE risk and lead to re-hospitalisation. This notion is supported by Heit *et al.* (125) who reported an almost 6-fold increased risk of VTE recurrence during hospital stay among patients hospitalised for medical illness.

Improved stratification for risk of recurrence after a first VTE is important because it has implications on the duration of anticoagulant treatment (125). This is a complex decision because it requires assessment of an individual patient's risk of developing unprovoked recurrent VTE and

anticoagulant-related major bleeding (125, 208, 217). For patients with a VTE provoked by a nonsurgical transient risk factor, current guidelines recommend 3 months anticoagulant treatment over long-term therapy (3). Though hospital admission for a medical condition, besides cancer or surgery, is a transient condition, a high VTE recurrence risk among these patients suggests a persistent underlying VTE risk, which may justify similar treatment recommendations as for those with unprovoked VTE.

In Paper IV, we reported that a history of MI was associated with an increased risk of VTE recurrence in patients with a first VTE. In a sex stratified analyses, history of MI was a risk factor for VTE recurrence in women but not in men. The 5-year cumulative incidence of recurrence in men with and without prior MI was similar. Our findings suggest that a history of MI is a persistent risk factor for VTE recurrence among women.

The association between prior MI and VTE recurrence, and possible mechanisms behind this association in a cohort of patients with incident VTE has not been extensively studied. Although several population-based studies (68, 147, 151, 152, 218), and an individual-level data meta-analysis (219) have shown a link between cardiovascular events and risk of incident VTE, there are no reports describing history of MI and risk of VTE recurrence among patients with first VTE.

In general, our study found that patients with a history of MI had a 45% increased risk of VTE recurrence. Analysis of a randomized controlled trial database involving 1021 patients with VTE (750 with DVT and 271 with PE) who were followed up for 3 months after the start of anticoagulation therapy demonstrated that presence of chronic cardiovascular disease in patients with symptomatic VTE was associated with a 2-fold increased risk of recurrent VTE during the initial 3 months of anticoagulant therapy (154). This study did not report sex-stratified results. As shown in Paper III, patients with a first VTE related to hospitalisation due to medical illness (without cancer or surgery) had a high risk of VTE recurrence even after competing risk of death was taken into account (220).

In our study, the risk of VTE recurrence in women with a history of MI was 2.5 times higher than in those with no history of MI, whereas a weak association was observed in men. A hypercoagulable state is found to play a vital role in the development of arterial events in younger subjects (221, 222). Our findings of a high recurrence risk in female VTE patients with a history of MI, suggests that a hypercoagulable state may play an important role also in the pathogenesis of MI in these patients. Another potential mechanism may be an inflammation. Investigators of The Tromsø Study reported that high levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) were associated with VTE risk particularly in women, and that chronic low-grade inflammation may be a potential common pathway for MI and VTE in obese women (223). Due to their stronger innate inflammatory response, women are at higher risk of developing autoimmune diseases than men (224). Women with autoimmune diseases such as SLE and rheumatoid arthritis have increased risk of cardiovascular events (225, 226), and these autoimmune disorders may predispose for both MI and VTE (214).

Studies have shown that risk of VTE recurrence is higher in men compared with women (127, 134, 136) and men have higher baseline risk for MI (185, 227). In our study, the crude IRs of recurrent VTE according to MI exposure were almost similar among men and women (5.1 and 6.5 per 100 PY, respectively). However, the baseline risk of recurrence in those without MI was higher in men (IR=4.1) than women (IR=1.9). The absolute incidence rate difference per 100 PY was 4.6 in women and 1.0 in men. The higher baseline risk of recurrence among men without a history of MI shows that men are at higher risk of recurrence also due to other risk factors. Thus, history of MI may be a persistent risk factor for VTE recurrence among women with first VTE, whereas it could not be used to distinguish between men at high and low risk of recurrence. Due to the limited statistical power in subgroup analyses, our study findings should be interpreted with caution.

6. Conclusions

- I. The rate of VTE has not decreased during the last decades. Our findings indicate that VTE remains a major public health challenge. Future research should focus on improving risk stratification and prevention of VTE in order to reduce the burden of VTE in the society.
- II. Despite advances in VTE management during the last decades, the rates of adverse events remained high especially in the first year following a VTE. VTE recurs frequently, and this trend continues for at least 10 years and possibly longer after the incident event. In order to reduce the disease burden associated with VTE, future studies should focus on development of risk prediction models with high precision in order to identify high-risk individuals with a favourable benefit-to-harm ratio for anticoagulant treatment.
- III. The risk of recurrence after a hospital-associated first VTE appeared to be dependent on the reason for hospitalization. However, except for surgery-related VTE, this did not hold true in the competing risk analysis. Our findings suggest that patients suffering from incident VTEs associated with hospitalization for medical illness other than cancer or surgery have a high risk of recurrence, even after competing risk by death is taken into account.
- IV. In conclusion, a history of MI was associated with increased risk of VTE recurrence in women, whereas no association was observed in men. Our findings suggest that MI may be a persistent, rather than transient, risk factor for VTE in women. Our findings must be interpreted with caution due to the low study power, and should therefore be confirmed in larger studies.

7. Implications of results and future perspectives

The results from Papers I and II of this thesis confirm that the disease burden of VTE remains substantial. The incidence rates of VTE has increased over the last decades, and the rates of adverse events remain high, especially in the first year following a VTE.

Although the introduction of better diagnostic tools to some extent may explain the increase in PE rates, our findings suggest that there is still a need for improvement in risk stratification and prevention strategies for first time VTE. Identification of novel, preferably modifiable, risk factors at the population level is of high importance to reduce the incidence of VTE. Moreover, future studies should focus on identifying risk factors that can contribute to improved risk stratification of patients in high-risk situations (e.g. surgery or hospitalization for acute medical conditions), so that targeted thromboprophylaxis can be better utilized with a favourable benefit-to-harm ratio.

Predicting the risk of recurrence in an individual patient is a challenge. Episodes of VTE are often categorized as provoked or unprovoked, and this categorization has implications for risk of recurrence and treatment duration. However, this categorization is not always clear-cut. For instance, hospitalization may be considered as a provoking factor for first VTE. However, in Paper III we show that the risk of recurrence is highly dependent on the reason for hospitalization, as patients with a first VTE related to hospitalisation for medical illness other than cancer or surgery have a high recurrence risk, whereas those with a surgery-related first VTE have a low recurrence risk. Further, we show that women with a history of MI have an increased risk of recurrence (Paper IV), which suggests that MI may not be a considered purely as a transient provoking factor in women. In general, there is still a need to investigate risk factors for VTE recurrence. Currently existing risk prediction models for recurrence should be improved, or new models should be developed. Our studies show that in conditions with a high mortality rate, the cumulative incidence of recurrence is overestimated with conventional survival analyses. Future studies with predictive purposes should therefore consider to perform analyses which takes competing risk by death into account.

References

1. Machlus KR, Aleman MM, Wolberg AS. Update on Venous Thromboembolism. Risk Factors, Mechanisms, and Treatments. 2011;31(3):476-8.

2. Gomez-Outes A, Suarez-Gea ML, Lecumberri R, Terleira-Fernandez AI, Vargas-Castrillon E. Direct-acting oral anticoagulants: pharmacology, indications, management, and future perspectives. European journal of haematology. 2015 Nov;95(5):389-404.

3. Kearon C, Akl EA, Ornelas J, Blaivas A, Jimenez D, Bounameaux H, et al. Antithrombotic Therapy for VTE Disease: CHEST Guideline and Expert Panel Report. Chest. 2016 Feb;149(2):315-52.

4. Galanaud JP, Laroche JP, Righini M. The history and historical treatments of deep vein thrombosis. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2013;11(3):402-11.

5. McFadden PM, Ochsner JL. A History of the Diagnosis and Treatment of Venous Thrombosis and Pulmonary Embolism. The Ochsner Journal. 2002 Winter;4(1):9-13.

6. Mannucci PM. Venous thrombosis: the history of knowledge. Pathophysiology of haemostasis and thrombosis. 2002 Sep-Dec;32(5-6):209-12.

7. Mackman N. New insights into the mechanisms of venous thrombosis. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2012 Jul;122(7):2331-6.

8. Bovill EG, van der Vliet A. Venous valvular stasis-associated hypoxia and thrombosis: what is the link? Annual review of physiology. 2011;73:527-45.

9. Watson SP. Platelet activation by extracellular matrix proteins in haemostasis and thrombosis. Current pharmaceutical design. 2009;15(12):1358-72.

10. Ley K, Laudanna C, Cybulsky MI, Nourshargh S. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. Nature reviews Immunology. 2007 Sep;7(9):678-89.

11. Mackman N, Tilley RE, Key NS. Role of the extrinsic pathway of blood coagulation in hemostasis and thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007 Aug;27(8):1687-93.

12. Glynn RJ, Rosner B. Comparison of risk factors for the competing risks of coronary heart disease, stroke, and venous thromboembolism. Am J Epidemiol. 2005 Nov 15;162(10):975-82.

13. Silverstein MD, Heit JA, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Trends in the incidence of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a 25-year population-based study. Arch Intern Med. 1998 Mar 23;158(6):585-93.

14. Spencer FA, Emery C, Lessard D, Anderson F, Emani S, Aragam J, et al. The Worcester Venous Thromboembolism study: a population-based study of the clinical epidemiology of venous thromboembolism. J Gen Intern Med. 2006 Jul;21(7):722-7.

15. Cohen AT, Agnelli G, Anderson FA, Arcelus JI, Bergqvist D, Brecht JG, et al. Venous thromboembolism (VTE) in Europe. The number of VTE events and associated morbidity and mortality. Thromb Haemost. 2007 Oct;98(4):756-64.

16. White RH. The epidemiology of venous thromboembolism. Circulation. 2003 Jun 17;107(23 Suppl 1):I4-8.

17. Heit JA, Crusan DJ, Ashrani AA, Petterson TM, Bailey KR. Effect of a near-universal hospitalization-based prophylaxis regimen on annual number of venous thromboembolism events in the US. Blood. 2017 Jul 13;130(2):109-14.

18. Buller HR, Sohne M, Middeldorp S. Treatment of venous thromboembolism. J Thromb Haemost. 2005 Aug;3(8):1554-60.

19. van Langevelde K, Sramek A, Vincken PW, van Rooden JK, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC. Finding the origin of pulmonary emboli with a total-body magnetic resonance direct thrombus imaging technique. Haematologica. 2013 Feb;98(2):309-15.

20. Heit JA. Venous thromboembolism: disease burden, outcomes and risk factors. J Thromb Haemost. 2005 Aug;3(8):1611-7.

21. Winter MP, Schernthaner GH, Lang IM. Chronic complications of venous thromboembolism. J Thromb Haemost. 2017 Aug;15(8):1531-40.

22. Prandoni P, Lensing AW, Cogo A, Cuppini S, Villalta S, Carta M, et al. The long-term clinical course of acute deep venous thrombosis. Ann Intern Med. 1996 Jul 1;125(1):1-7.

23. Heit JA, Mohr DN, Silverstein MD, Petterson TM, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Predictors of recurrence after deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a population-based cohort study. Arch Intern Med. 2000 Mar 27;160(6):761-8.

24. Spencer FA, Emery C, Joffe SW, Pacifico L, Lessard D, Reed G, et al. Incidence rates, clinical profile, and outcomes of patients with venous thromboembolism. The Worcester VTE study. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2009 Nov;28(4):401-9.

25. Heit JA. The epidemiology of venous thromboembolism in the community. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008 Mar;28(3):370-2.

26. Tick LW, Kramer MH, Rosendaal FR, Faber WR, Doggen CJ. Risk factors for post-thrombotic syndrome in patients with a first deep venous thrombosis. J Thromb Haemost. 2008 Dec;6(12):2075-81.

27. Klok FA, van Kralingen KW, van Dijk AP, Heyning FH, Vliegen HW, Huisman MV. Prospective cardiopulmonary screening program to detect chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension in patients after acute pulmonary embolism. Haematologica. 2010 Jun;95(6):970-5.

28. Naess IA, Christiansen SC, Romundstad P, Cannegieter SC, Rosendaal FR, Hammerstrom J. Incidence and mortality of venous thrombosis: a population-based study. J Thromb Haemost. 2007 Apr;5(4):692-9.

29. Braekkan SK, Mathiesen EB, Njolstad I, Wilsgaard T, Stormer J, Hansen JB. Family history of myocardial infarction is an independent risk factor for venous thromboembolism: the Tromso study. J Thromb Haemost. 2008 Nov;6(11):1851-7.

30. Johansson M, Johansson L, Lind M. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in northern Sweden (VEINS): a population-based study. Thromb J. 2014;12(1):6.

31. Isma N, Svensson PJ, Gottsater A, Lindblad B. Prospective analysis of risk factors and distribution of venous thromboembolism in the population-based Malmo Thrombophilia Study (MATS). Thromb Res. 2009 Dec;124(6):663-6.

32. Ho WK, Hankey GJ, Eikelboom JW. The incidence of venous thromboembolism: a prospective, community-based study in Perth, Western Australia. Med J Aust. 2008 Aug 4;189(3):144-7.

33. Cushman M. Epidemiology and risk factors for venous thrombosis. Semin Hematol. 2007 Apr;44(2):62-9.

34. Goldhaber SZ. Risk factors for venous thromboembolism. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010 Jun 29;56(1):1-7.

35. Kniffin WD, Jr., Baron JA, Barrett J, Birkmeyer JD, Anderson FA, Jr. The epidemiology of diagnosed pulmonary embolism and deep venous thrombosis in the elderly. Arch Intern Med. 1994 Apr 25;154(8):861-6.

36. Almodaimegh H, Alfehaid L, Alsuhebany N, Bustami R, Alharbi S, Alkatheri A, et al. Awareness of venous thromboembolism and thromboprophylaxis among hospitalized patients: a cross-sectional study. Thromb J. 2017;15:19.

37. Delluc A, Tromeur C, Le Ven F, Gouillou M, Paleiron N, Bressollette L, et al. Current incidence of venous thromboembolism and comparison with 1998: a community-based study in Western France. Thromb Haemost. 2016 Oct 28;116(5):967-74.

38. Wiener RS, Schwartz LM, Woloshin S. Time trends in pulmonary embolism in the United States: evidence of overdiagnosis. Arch Intern Med. 2011 May 9;171(9):831-7.

39. Huang W, Goldberg RJ, Anderson FA, Kiefe CI, Spencer FA. Secular trends in occurrence of acute venous thromboembolism: the Worcester VTE study (1985-2009). Am J Med. 2014 Sep;127(9):829-39 e5.

40. Heit JA, Petterson TM, Farmer SA, Bailey KR, Melton LJ, III. Trends in the Incidence of Deep Vein Thrombosis and Pulmonary Embolism: A 35-Year Population-Based Study. ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts. 2006;108(11):1488.

41. Kearon C, Ageno W, Cannegieter SC, Cosmi B, Geersing GJ, Kyrle PA. Categorization of patients as having provoked or unprovoked venous thromboembolism: guidance from the SSC of ISTH. J Thromb Haemost. 2016 Jul;14(7):1480-3.

42. Lijfering WM, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC. Risk factors for venous thrombosis - current understanding from an epidemiological point of view. British journal of haematology. 2010 Jun;149(6):824-33.

43. Rosendaal FR. Risk factors for venous thrombotic disease. Thromb Haemost. 1999 Aug;82(2):610-9.

44. Turpie AGG, Chin BSP, Lip GYH. Venous thromboembolism: pathophysiology, clinical features, and prevention. BMJ. 2002;325(7369):887-90.

45. Rosendaal FR. Venous thrombosis: a multicausal disease. Lancet. 1999 Apr 03;353(9159):1167-73.

46. Rosendaal FR. Venous thrombosis: the role of genes, environment, and behavior. Hematology American Society of Hematology Education Program. 2005:1-12.

47. Anderson FA, Jr., Spencer FA. Risk factors for venous thromboembolism. Circulation. 2003 Jun 17;107(23 Suppl 1):I9-16.

48. Anderson FA, Jr., Wheeler HB, Goldberg RJ, Hosmer DW, Patwardhan NA, Jovanovic B, et al. A population-based perspective of the hospital incidence and case-fatality rates of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. The Worcester DVT Study. Arch Intern Med. 1991 May;151(5):933-8.

49. Vazquez FJ, Posadas-Martinez ML, Vicens J, Gonzalez Bernaldo de Quiros F, Giunta DH. Incidence rate of symptomatic venous thromboembolic disease in patients from a medical care program in Buenos Aires, Argentina: a prospective cohort. Thromb J. 2013;11(1):16.

50. Tsai AW, Cushman M, Rosamond WD, Heckbert SR, Polak JF, Folsom AR. Cardiovascular risk factors and venous thromboembolism incidence: the longitudinal investigation of thromboembolism etiology. Arch Intern Med. 2002 May 27;162(10):1182-9.

51. Braekkan SK, Hald EM, Mathiesen EB, Njolstad I, Wilsgaard T, Rosendaal FR, et al. Competing risk of atherosclerotic risk factors for arterial and venous thrombosis in a general population: the Tromso study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012 Feb;32(2):487-91.

52. Engbers MJ, van Hylckama Vlieg A, Rosendaal FR. Venous thrombosis in the elderly: incidence, risk factors and risk groups. J Thromb Haemost. 2010 Oct;8(10):2105-12.

53. Franchini M. Hemostasis and aging. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2006 Nov;60(2):144-51.

54. White RH, Zhou H, Murin S, Harvey D. Effect of ethnicity and gender on the incidence of venous thromboembolism in a diverse population in California in 1996. Thromb Haemost. 2005 Feb;93(2):298-305.

55. Nordstrom M, Lindblad B, Bergqvist D, Kjellstrom T. A prospective study of the incidence of deep-vein thrombosis within a defined urban population. J Intern Med. 1992 Aug;232(2):155-60.

56. Heit JA, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, Lohse CM, O'Fallon WM, et al. The epidemiology of venous thromboembolism in the community. Thromb Haemost. 2001 Jul;86(1):452-63.

57. Roach RE, Lijfering WM, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC, le Cessie S. Sex difference in risk of second but not of first venous thrombosis: paradox explained. Circulation. 2014 Jan 7;129(1):51-6.

58. Heit JA, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a population-based case-control study. Arch Intern Med. 2000 Mar 27;160(6):809-15.

59. White RH, Zhou H, Romano PS. Incidence of symptomatic venous thromboembolism after different elective or urgent surgical procedures. Thromb Haemost. 2003 Sep;90(3):446-55.

60. Samama MM, Dahl OE, Quinlan DJ, Mismetti P, Rosencher N. Quantification of risk factors for venous thromboembolism: a preliminary study for the development of a risk assessment tool. Haematologica. 2003 Dec;88(12):1410-21.

61. Keenan CR, White RH. Age as a risk factor for venous thromboembolism after major surgery. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2005 Sep;11(5):398-402.

62. Johnson GJ, Leis LA, Bach RR. Tissue factor activity of blood mononuclear cells is increased after total knee arthroplasty. Thromb Haemost. 2009 Oct;102(4):728-34.

63. Osterud B, Due J, Jr. Blood coagulation in patients with benign and malignant tumours before and after surgery. Special reference to thromboplastin generation in monocytes. Scandinavian journal of haematology. 1984 Mar;32(3):258-64.

64. Heit JA, O'Fallon WM, Petterson TM, Lohse CM, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, et al. Relative impact of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a population-based study. Arch Intern Med. 2002 Jun 10;162(11):1245-8.

65. Heit JA, Melton LJ, 3rd, Lohse CM, Petterson TM, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, et al. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients vs community residents. Mayo Clin Proc. 2001 Nov;76(11):1102-10.

66. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevention of Hospital-Acquired Venous Thromboembolism (HA-VTE) Expert Panel Meeting. August 19, 2011 [cited; Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/dvt/documents/12_232434-A_Sayers_HA-</u> VTE_Workshop_Report_508.pdf

67. Baglin TP, White K, Charles A. Fatal pulmonary embolism in hospitalised medical patients. Journal of clinical pathology. 1997 Jul;50(7):609-10.

68. Rinde LB, Lind C, Smabrekke B, Njolstad I, Mathiesen EB, Wilsgaard T, et al. Impact of incident myocardial infarction on the risk of venous thromboembolism: the Tromso Study. J Thromb Haemost. 2016 Jun;14(6):1183-91.

69. Rinde LB, Smabrekke B, Mathiesen EB, Lochen ML, Njolstad I, Hald EM, et al. Ischemic Stroke and Risk of Venous Thromboembolism in the General Population: The Tromso Study. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2016 Nov 07;5(11).

70. Kahn SR, Lim W, Dunn AS, Cushman M, Dentali F, Akl EA, et al. Prevention of VTE in nonsurgical patients: Antithrombotic Therapy and Prevention of Thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines. Chest. 2012 Feb;141(2 Suppl):e195S-e226S.

71. Blom JW, Doggen CJ, Osanto S, Rosendaal FR. Malignancies, prothrombotic mutations, and the risk of venous thrombosis. Jama. 2005 Feb 9;293(6):715-22.

72. Chew HK, Wun T, Harvey D, Zhou H, White RH. Incidence of venous thromboembolism and its effect on survival among patients with common cancers. Arch Intern Med. 2006 Feb 27;166(4):458-64.

73. Horsted F, West J, Grainge MJ. Risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS medicine. 2012;9(7):e1001275.

74. Stein PD, Beemath A, Meyers FA, Skaf E, Sanchez J, Olson RE. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in patients hospitalized with cancer. Am J Med. 2006 Jan;119(1):60-8.

75. Timp JF, Braekkan SK, Versteeg HH, Cannegieter SC. Epidemiology of cancer-associated venous thrombosis. Blood. 2013 Sep 5;122(10):1712-23.

76. Piazza G. Venous thromboembolism and cancer. Circulation. 2013 Dec 17;128(24):2614-8.

77. Paffrath T, Wafaisade A, Lefering R, Simanski C, Bouillon B, Spanholtz T, et al. Venous thromboembolism after severe trauma: incidence, risk factors and outcome. Injury. 2010 Jan;41(1):97-101.

78. Geerts WH, Code KI, Jay RM, Chen E, Szalai JP. A prospective study of venous thromboembolism after major trauma. N Engl J Med. 1994 Dec 15;331(24):1601-6.

79. World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight fact sheet. 2017 [cited Accessed November 1, 2017]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/</u>

80. Abdollahi M, Cushman M, Rosendaal FR. Obesity: risk of venous thrombosis and the interaction with coagulation factor levels and oral contraceptive use. Thromb Haemost. 2003 Mar;89(3):493-8.

81. Horvei LD, Braekkan SK, Hansen JB. Weight Change and Risk of Venous Thromboembolism: The Tromso Study. PloS one. 2016;11(12):e0168878.

82. Borch KH, Braekkan SK, Mathiesen EB, Njolstad I, Wilsgaard T, Stormer J, et al. Anthropometric measures of obesity and risk of venous thromboembolism: the Tromso study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010 Jan;30(1):121-7.

83. Severinsen MT, Kristensen SR, Johnsen SP, Dethlefsen C, Tjonneland A, Overvad K. Anthropometry, body fat, and venous thromboembolism: a Danish follow-up study. Circulation. 2009 Nov 10;120(19):1850-7.

84. Gibbs NM. Venous thrombosis of the lower limbs with particular reference to bed-rest. The British journal of surgery. 1957 Nov;45(191):209-36.

85. Warlow C, Ogston D, Douglas AS. Venous thrombosis following strokes. Lancet. 1972 Jun 17;1(7764):1305-6.

86. Samama MM. An epidemiologic study of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis in medical outpatients: the Sirius study. Arch Intern Med. 2000 Dec 11-25;160(22):3415-20.

87. Cannegieter SC, Doggen CJ, van Houwelingen HC, Rosendaal FR. Travel-related venous thrombosis: results from a large population-based case control study (MEGA study). PLoS medicine. 2006 Aug;3(8):e307.

88. Greer IA. CLINICAL PRACTICE. Pregnancy Complicated by Venous Thrombosis. N Engl J Med. 2015 Aug 06;373(6):540-7.

89. Heit JA, Kobbervig CE, James AH, Petterson TM, Bailey KR, Melton LJ, 3rd. Trends in the incidence of venous thromboembolism during pregnancy or postpartum: a 30-year population-based study. Ann Intern Med. 2005 Nov 15;143(10):697-706.

90. Pomp ER, Lenselink AM, Rosendaal FR, Doggen CJ. Pregnancy, the postpartum period and prothrombotic defects: risk of venous thrombosis in the MEGA study. J Thromb Haemost. 2008 Apr;6(4):632-7.

91. Bremme KA. Haemostatic changes in pregnancy. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol. 2003 Jun;16(2):153-68.

92. van Hylckama Vlieg A, Helmerhorst FM, Vandenbroucke JP, Doggen CJ, Rosendaal FR. The venous thrombotic risk of oral contraceptives, effects of oestrogen dose and progestogen type: results of the MEGA case-control study. Bmj. 2009 Aug 13;339:b2921.

93. Tans G, Curvers J, Middeldorp S, Thomassen MC, Meijers JC, Prins MH, et al. A randomized cross-over study on the effects of levonorgestrel- and desogestrel-containing oral contraceptives on the anticoagulant pathways. Thromb Haemost. 2000 Jul;84(1):15-21.

94. Middeldorp S, Meijers JC, van den Ende AE, van Enk A, Bouma BN, Tans G, et al. Effects on coagulation of levonorgestrel- and desogestrel-containing low dose oral contraceptives: a cross-over study. Thromb Haemost. 2000 Jul;84(1):4-8.

95. Rosing J, Middeldorp S, Curvers J, Christella M, Thomassen LG, Nicolaes GA, et al. Low-dose oral contraceptives and acquired resistance to activated protein C: a randomised cross-over study. Lancet. 1999 Dec 11;354(9195):2036-40.

96. Canonico M, Plu-Bureau G, Lowe GD, Scarabin PY. Hormone replacement therapy and risk of venous thromboembolism in postmenopausal women: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bmj. 2008 May 31;336(7655):1227-31.

97. Ginsberg JS, Wells PS, Brill-Edwards P, Donovan D, Moffatt K, Johnston M, et al.
Antiphospholipid antibodies and venous thromboembolism. Blood. 1995 Nov 15;86(10):3685-91.
98. Larsen TB, Sorensen HT, Skytthe A, Johnsen SP, Vaupel JW, Christensen K. Major genetic susceptibility for venous thromboembolism in men: a study of Danish twins. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass). 2003 May;14(3):328-32.

99. Heit JA, Phelps MA, Ward SA, Slusser JP, Petterson TM, De Andrade M. Familial segregation of venous thromboembolism. J Thromb Haemost. 2004 May;2(5):731-6.

100. Zoller B, Li X, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Familial transmission of venous thromboembolism: a cohort study of 80 214 Swedish adoptees linked to their biological and adoptive parents. Circulation Cardiovascular genetics. 2014 Jun;7(3):296-303.
101. Lipe B, Ornstein DL. Deficiencies of Natural Anticoagulants, Protein C, Protein S, and Antithrombin. Circulation. 2011;124(14):e365-e8.

102. Martinelli I, De Stefano V, Mannucci PM. Inherited risk factors for venous thromboembolism. 2014 01/14/online;11:140.

103. Seligsohn U, Lubetsky A. Genetic susceptibility to venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med. 2001 Apr 19;344(16):1222-31.

104. Huang SS, Liu Y, Jing ZC, Wang XJ, Mao YM. Common genetic risk factors of venous thromboembolism in Western and Asian populations. Genetics and molecular research : GMR. 2016 Mar 04;15(1):15017644.

105. Zoller B, Garcia de Frutos P, Hillarp A, Dahlback B. Thrombophilia as a multigenic disease. Haematologica. 1999 Jan;84(1):59-70.

106. Wypasek E, Undas A. Protein C and protein S deficiency - practical diagnostic issues. Advances in clinical and experimental medicine : official organ Wroclaw Medical University. 2013 Jul-Aug;22(4):459-67.

107. Tang L, Hu Y. Ethnic diversity in the genetics of venous thromboembolism. Thromb Haemost. 2015 Nov;114(5):901-9.

108. Morange PE, Suchon P, Tregouet DA. Genetics of Venous Thrombosis: update in 2015. Thromb Haemost. 2015 Nov;114(5):910-9.

109. Poort SR, Rosendaal FR, Reitsma PH, Bertina RM. A common genetic variation in the 3'untranslated region of the prothrombin gene is associated with elevated plasma prothrombin levels and an increase in venous thrombosis. Blood. 1996 Nov 15;88(10):3698-703.

110. Bucciarelli P, De Stefano V, Passamonti SM, Tormene D, Legnani C, Rossi E, et al. Influence of proband's characteristics on the risk for venous thromboembolism in relatives with factor V Leiden or prothrombin G20210A polymorphisms. Blood. 2013 Oct 10;122(15):2555-61.

111. Morange PE, Tregouet DA. Lessons from genome-wide association studies in venous thrombosis. J Thromb Haemost. 2011 Jul;9 Suppl 1:258-64.

112. Cohen W, Castelli C, Alessi MC, Aillaud MF, Bouvet S, Saut N, et al. ABO blood group and von Willebrand factor levels partially explained the incomplete penetrance of congenital thrombophilia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012 Aug;32(8):2021-8.

113. Deitelzweig SB, Johnson BH, Lin J, Schulman KL. Prevalence of clinical venous thromboembolism in the USA: Current trends and future projections. American Journal of Hematology. 2011;86(2):217-20.

114. Cohen AT, Katholing A, Rietbrock S, Bamber L, Martinez C. Epidemiology of first and recurrent venous thromboembolism in patients with active cancer. A population-based cohort study. Thromb Haemost. 2016 Oct 06;117(1).

115. Prandoni P, Noventa F, Ghirarduzzi A, Pengo V, Bernardi E, Pesavento R, et al. The risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism after discontinuing anticoagulation in patients with acute proximal deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism. A prospective cohort study in 1,626 patients. Haematologica. 2007 Feb;92(2):199-205.

116. Schulman S, Rhedin AS, Lindmarker P, Carlsson A, Larfars G, Nicol P, et al. A comparison of six weeks with six months of oral anticoagulant therapy after a first episode of venous thromboembolism. Duration of Anticoagulation Trial Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1995 Jun 22;332(25):1661-5.

117. White RH, Zhou H, Romano PS. Length of hospital stay for treatment of deep venous thrombosis and the incidence of recurrent thromboembolism. Arch Intern Med. 1998 May 11;158(9):1005-10.

118. Beyth RJ, Cohen AM, Landefeld CS. Long-term outcomes of deep-vein thrombosis. Arch Intern Med. 1995 May 22;155(10):1031-7.

119. van Beek EJ, Kuijer PM, Buller HR, Brandjes DP, Bossuyt PM, ten Cate JW. The clinical course of patients with suspected pulmonary embolism. Arch Intern Med. 1997 Dec 8-22;157(22):2593-8.

120. Spencer FA, Gore JM, Reed G, Lessard D, Pacifico L, Emery C, et al. Venous thromboembolism and bleeding in a community setting. The Worcester Venous Thromboembolism Study. Thromb Haemost. 2009 May;101(5):878-85.

121. Hansson PO, Sorbo J, Eriksson H. Recurrent venous thromboembolism after deep vein thrombosis: incidence and risk factors. Arch Intern Med. 2000 Mar 27;160(6):769-74.

122. Huang W, Goldberg RJ, Cohen AT, Anderson FA, Kiefe CI, Gore JM, et al. Declining Long-term Risk of Adverse Events after First-time Community-presenting Venous Thromboembolism: The Population-based Worcester VTE Study (1999 to 2009). Thromb Res. 2015 Jun;135(6):1100-6.

123. Cushman M, Tsai AW, White RH, Heckbert SR, Rosamond WD, Enright P, et al. Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism in two cohorts: the longitudinal investigation of thromboembolism etiology. Am J Med. 2004 Jul 1;117(1):19-25.

124. Carrier M, Righini M, Wells PS, Perrier A, Anderson DR, Rodger MA, et al. Subsegmental pulmonary embolism diagnosed by computed tomography: incidence and clinical implications. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the management outcome studies. J Thromb Haemost. 2010 Aug;8(8):1716-22.

125. Heit JA, Lahr BD, Ashrani AA, Petterson TM, Bailey KR. Predictors of venous thromboembolism recurrence, adjusted for treatments and interim exposures: a population-based case-cohort study. Thromb Res. 2015 Aug;136(2):298-307.

126. Chee CE, Ashrani AA, Marks RS, Petterson TM, Bailey KR, Melton LJ, 3rd, et al. Predictors of venous thromboembolism recurrence and bleeding among active cancer patients: a population-based cohort study. Blood. 2014 Jun 19;123(25):3972-8.

127. Kyrle PA, Minar E, Bialonczyk C, Hirschl M, Weltermann A, Eichinger S. The risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism in men and women. N Engl J Med. 2004 Jun 17;350(25):2558-63.

128. Kearon C, Akl EA. Duration of anticoagulant therapy for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. Blood. 2014 2014-03-20 00:00:00;123(12):1794-801.

129. Iorio A, Kearon C, Filippucci E, Marcucci M, Macura A, Pengo V, et al. Risk of recurrence after a first episode of symptomatic venous thromboembolism provoked by a transient risk factor: a systematic review. Arch Intern Med. 2010 Oct 25;170(19):1710-6.

130. Prandoni P, Lensing AW, Piccioli A, Bernardi E, Simioni P, Girolami B, et al. Recurrent venous thromboembolism and bleeding complications during anticoagulant treatment in patients with cancer and venous thrombosis. Blood. 2002 Nov 15;100(10):3484-8.

131. Baglin T, Douketis J, Tosetto A, Marcucci M, Cushman M, Kyrle P, et al. Does the clinical presentation and extent of venous thrombosis predict likelihood and type of recurrence? A patient-level meta-analysis. J Thromb Haemost. 2010 Nov;8(11):2436-42.

132. Kovacs MJ, Kahn SR, Wells PS, Anderson DA, Chagnon I, G LEG, et al. Patients with a first symptomatic unprovoked deep vein thrombosis are at higher risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism than patients with a first unprovoked pulmonary embolism. J Thromb Haemost. 2010 Sep;8(9):1926-32.

133. Huang W, Goldberg RJ, Anderson FA, Cohen AT, Spencer FA. Occurrence and predictors of recurrence after a first episode of acute venous thromboembolism: population-based Worcester Venous Thromboembolism Study. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2016 Feb 5.

134. Baglin T, Luddington R, Brown K, Baglin C. High risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism in men. J Thromb Haemost. 2004 Dec;2(12):2152-5.

135. Heit JA. Predicting the risk of venous thromboembolism recurrence. Am J Hematol. 2012 May;87 Suppl 1:S63-7.

136. McRae S, Tran H, Schulman S, Ginsberg J, Kearon C. Effect of patient's sex on risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism: a meta-analysis. Lancet. 2006 Jul 29;368(9533):371-8.

137. Douketis J, Tosetto A, Marcucci M, Baglin T, Cosmi B, Cushman M, et al. Risk of recurrence after venous thromboembolism in men and women: patient level meta-analysis. Bmj. 2011;342:d813.

138. Baglin T, Luddington R, Brown K, Baglin C. Incidence of recurrent venous thromboembolism in relation to clinical and thrombophilic risk factors: prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2003 Aug 16;362(9383):523-6.

139. Christiansen SC, Lijfering WM, Helmerhorst FM, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC. Sex difference in risk of recurrent venous thrombosis and the risk profile for a second event. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2010;8(10):2159-68.

140. Ay C, Posch F, Kaider A, Zielinski C, Pabinger I. Estimating risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with cancer in the presence of competing mortality. J Thromb Haemost. 2015 Mar;13(3):390-7.

141. Campigotto F, Neuberg D, Zwicker JI. Accounting for death as a competing risk in cancerassociated thrombosis studies. Thromb Res. 2012 Apr;129 Suppl 1:S85-7.

142. Verduijn M, Grootendorst DC, Dekker FW, Jager KJ, le Cessie S. The analysis of competing events like cause-specific mortality--beware of the Kaplan-Meier method. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association. 2011 Jan;26(1):56-61.

143. Fine JP, Gray RJ. A Proportional Hazards Model for the Subdistribution of a Competing Risk. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 1999 1999/06/01;94(446):496-509.

144. Agnelli G, Becattini C. Venous thromboembolism and atherosclerosis: common denominators or different diseases? J Thromb Haemost. 2006 Sep;4(9):1886-90.

145. Prandoni P, Bilora F, Marchiori A, Bernardi E, Petrobelli F, Lensing AW, et al. An association between atherosclerosis and venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med. 2003 Apr 10;348(15):1435-41.

146. Eliasson A, Bergqvist D, Bjorck M, Acosta S, Sternby NH, Ogren M. Incidence and risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with verified arterial thrombosis: a population study based on 23,796 consecutive autopsies. J Thromb Haemost. 2006 Sep;4(9):1897-902.

147. Reich LM, Folsom AR, Key NS, Boland LL, Heckbert SR, Rosamond WD, et al. Prospective study of subclinical atherosclerosis as a risk factor for venous thromboembolism. J Thromb Haemost. 2006 Sep;4(9):1909-13.

148. Sorensen HT, Horvath-Puho E, Pedersen L, Baron JA, Prandoni P. Venous thromboembolism and subsequent hospitalisation due to acute arterial cardiovascular events: a 20-year cohort study. Lancet. 2007 Nov 24;370(9601):1773-9.

149. Lind C, Flinterman LE, Enga KF, Severinsen MT, Kristensen SR, Braekkan SK, et al. Impact of incident venous thromboembolism on risk of arterial thrombotic diseases. Circulation. 2014 Feb 25;129(8):855-63.

150. Roach RE, Lijfering WM, Flinterman LE, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC. Increased risk of CVD after VT is determined by common etiologic factors. Blood. 2013 Jun 13;121(24):4948-54.

151. Sorensen HT, Horvath-Puho E, Sogaard KK, Christensen S, Johnsen SP, Thomsen RW, et al. Arterial cardiovascular events, statins, low-dose aspirin and subsequent risk of venous

thromboembolism: a population-based case-control study. J Thromb Haemost. 2009 Apr;7(4):521-8. 152. Sorensen HT, Horvath-Puho E, Lash TL, Christiansen CF, Pesavento R, Pedersen L, et al. Heart disease may be a risk factor for pulmonary embolism without peripheral deep venous thrombosis. Circulation. 2011 Sep 27;124(13):1435-41.

153. Collins R, MacMahon S, Flather M, Baigent C, Remvig L, Mortensen S, et al. Clinical effects of anticoagulant therapy in suspected acute myocardial infarction: systematic overview of randomised trials. Bmj. 1996 Sep 14;313(7058):652-9.

154. Douketis JD, Foster GA, Crowther MA, Prins MH, Ginsberg JS. Clinical risk factors and timing of recurrent venous thromboembolism during the initial 3 months of anticoagulant therapy. Arch Intern Med. 2000 Dec 11-25;160(22):3431-6.

155. Cohen AT, Tapson VF, Bergmann JF, Goldhaber SZ, Kakkar AK, Deslandes B, et al. Venous thromboembolism risk and prophylaxis in the acute hospital care setting (ENDORSE study): a multinational cross-sectional study. Lancet. 2008 Feb 2;371(9610):387-94.

156. Heit JA, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Predictors of survival after deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a population-based, cohort study. Arch Intern Med. 1999 Mar 8;159(5):445-53.

157. Tagalakis V, Patenaude V, Kahn SR, Suissa S. Incidence of and mortality from venous thromboembolism in a real-world population: the Q-VTE Study Cohort. Am J Med. 2013 Sep;126(9):832.e13-21.

158. Carson JL, Kelley MA, Duff A, Weg JG, Fulkerson WJ, Palevsky HI, et al. The clinical course of pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med. 1992 May 7;326(19):1240-5.

159. Flinterman LE, van Hylckama Vlieg A, Cannegieter SC, Rosendaal FR. Long-term survival in a large cohort of patients with venous thrombosis: incidence and predictors. PLoS medicine. 2012 Jan;9(1):e1001155.

160. Buller HR, Davidson BL, Decousus H, Gallus A, Gent M, Piovella F, et al. Fondaparinux or enoxaparin for the initial treatment of symptomatic deep venous thrombosis: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2004 Jun 1;140(11):867-73.

161. Fiessinger JN, Huisman MV, Davidson BL, Bounameaux H, Francis CW, Eriksson H, et al. Ximelagatran vs low-molecular-weight heparin and warfarin for the treatment of deep vein thrombosis: a randomized trial. JAMA. 2005 Feb 9;293(6):681-9.

Sogaard KK, Schmidt M, Pedersen L, Horvath-Puho E, Sorensen HT. 30-year mortality after venous thromboembolism: a population-based cohort study. Circulation. 2014 Sep 2;130(10):829-36.
Aylin P, Bottle A, Kirkwood G, Bell D. Trends in hospital admissions for pulmonary embolism in England: 1996/7 to 2005/6. Clin Med. 2008 Aug;8(4):388-92.

164. Arcelus JI, Caprini JA, Monreal M, Suarez C, Gonzalez-Fajardo J. The management and outcome of acute venous thromboembolism: a prospective registry including 4011 patients. J Vasc Surg. 2003 Nov;38(5):916-22.

165. Schulman S, Lindmarker P, Holmstrom M, Larfars G, Carlsson A, Nicol P, et al. Postthrombotic syndrome, recurrence, and death 10 years after the first episode of venous thromboembolism treated with warfarin for 6 weeks or 6 months. J Thromb Haemost. 2006 Apr;4(4):734-42.

166. Spencer FA, Gore JM, Lessard D, Douketis JD, Emery C, Goldberg RJ. Patient outcomes after deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: The worcester venous thromboembolism study. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2008;168(4):425-30.

167. Belcaro G, Nicolaides AN, Cesarone MR, Laurora G, De Sanctis MT, Incandela L, et al. Comparison of low-molecular-weight heparin, administered primarily at home, with unfractionated heparin, administered in hospital, and subcutaneous heparin, administered at home for deep-vein thrombosis. Angiology. 1999 Oct;50(10):781-7.

168. Levine M, Gent M, Hirsh J, Leclerc J, Anderson D, Weitz J, et al. A comparison of lowmolecular-weight heparin administered primarily at home with unfractionated heparin administered in the hospital for proximal deep-vein thrombosis. N Engl J Med. 1996 Mar 14;334(11):677-81.

Burge AJ, Freeman KD, Klapper PJ, Haramati LB. Increased diagnosis of pulmonary embolism without a corresponding decline in mortality during the CT era. Clin Radiol. 2008 Apr;63(4):381-6.
Hogg K, Hinchliffe E, Haslam S, Sethi B, Carrier M, Lecky F. Predicting short term mortality

after investigation for venous thromboembolism. Thromb Res. 2013 Apr;131(4):e141-6. 171. Olie V, Fuhrman C, Chin F, Lamarche-Vadel A, Scarabin PY, de Peretti C. Time trends in pulmonary embolism mortality in France, 2000-2010. Thromb Res. 2015 Feb;135(2):334-8.

172. Timp JF, Lijfering WM, Flinterman LE, van Hylckama Vlieg A, le Cessie S, Rosendaal FR, et al. Predictive value of factor VIII levels for recurrent venous thrombosis: results from the MEGA followup study. J Thromb Haemost. 2015 Oct;13(10):1823-32.

173. Stricker BH, Herings RM. [Plea for the retention of the Dutch National Medical Registration (LMR) to provide reliable information regarding public health and healthcare]. Nederlands tijdschrift voor geneeskunde. 2006 Sep 02;150(35):1916-7.

174. Bonita R, Beaglehole R, Kjellstrom T. Basic epidemiology. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2006.

175. Hill AB. THE ENVIRONMENT AND DISEASE: ASSOCIATION OR CAUSATION? Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine. 1965 May;58:295-300.

176. Kenneth J Rothman, Sander Greenland, Lash TL. Modern epidemiology. 3rd edition ed: Wolters Kluwer Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008.

177. Jacobsen BK, Eggen AE, Mathiesen EB, Wilsgaard T, Njolstad I. Cohort profile: the Tromso Study. International journal of epidemiology. 2012 Aug;41(4):961-7.

178. Eggen AE, Mathiesen EB, Wilsgaard T, Jacobsen BK, Njolstad I. The sixth survey of the Tromso Study (Tromso 6) in 2007-08: collaborative research in the interface between clinical medicine and epidemiology: study objectives, design, data collection procedures, and attendance in a multipurpose population-based health survey. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2013 Feb;41(1):65-80.

179. Aschengrau A, Seage GRI. Essentials of epidemiology in public health. 2nd edition ed. London: Jones and Bartlett Publishers, 2008.

180. Moyses Szklo FJN. Epidemiology beyond the basics. 3rd edition ed. Burlington: Jones & Bartlett Learning, 2014.

181. Flinterman LE. Risk factors for a first and recurrent venous thrombosis. The Netherlands: Leiden University Medical Center; 2013.

182. Morelli VM, Lijfering WM, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC. Lipid levels and risk of recurrent venous thrombosis: results from the MEGA follow-up study. J Thromb Haemost. 2017 Apr;15(4):695-701.

183. Altman DG, Bland JM. Missing data. Bmj. 2007 Feb 24;334(7590):424.

184. Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, Spratt M, Royston P, Kenward MG, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. Bmj. 2009 Jun 29;338:b2393.

185. Albrektsen G, Heuch I, Løchen M, et al. Lifelong gender gap in risk of incident myocardial infarction: The tromsø study. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2016;176(11):1673-9.

186. Ahmad OB PC, Lopez AD, Murray CJL, Lozano R, Inoue M. Age standardization of rates: A new WHO standard. EIP/GPE/EBD World Health Organization, 2001.

187. Korn EL, Graubard BI, Midthune D. Time-to-event analysis of longitudinal follow-up of a survey: choice of the time-scale. Am J Epidemiol. 1997 Jan 1;145(1):72-80.

188. Andersen PK, Geskus RB, de Witte T, Putter H. Competing risks in epidemiology: possibilities and pitfalls. International journal of epidemiology. 2012 Jun;41(3):861-70.

189. Anderson DR, Kahn SR, Rodger MA, Kovacs MJ, Morris T, Hirsch A, et al. Computed tomographic pulmonary angiography vs ventilation-perfusion lung scanning in patients with suspected pulmonary embolism: a randomized controlled trial. Jama. 2007 Dec 19;298(23):2743-53.
190. Segard T, Macdonald WB. Changing trends in venous thromboembolism-related imaging in

Western Australian teaching hospitals, 2002-2010. Med J Aust. 2013 Feb 4;198(2):100-3.

191. Wiener RS, Schwartz LM, Woloshin S. When a test is too good: how CT pulmonary angiograms find pulmonary emboli that do not need to be found. Bmj. 2013 Jul 2;347:f3368.

192. Raskob GE, Angchaisuksiri P, Blanco AN, Buller H, Gallus A, Hunt BJ, et al. Thrombosis: a major contributor to global disease burden. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014 Nov;34(11):2363-71.
193. Kyrle PA, Rosendaal FR, Eichinger S. Risk assessment for recurrent venous thrombosis. Lancet. 2010 Dec 11;376(9757):2032-9.

194. Martinez C, Cohen AT, Bamber L, Rietbrock S. Epidemiology of first and recurrent venous thromboembolism: a population-based cohort study in patients without active cancer. Thromb Haemost. 2014 Aug;112(2):255-63.

195. Chapman HA. Dysregulation of the PA/PAI system in pulmonary disease (ARDS and Fibrosis). In: Glas-Greenwalt P, ed. Fibrinolysis in disease Molecular and Hemovascular aspects of fibrinolysis. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press, 1996:253-8.

196. Chiu V, O'Connell C. Management of the Incidental Pulmonary Embolism. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2016 2017/03/01;208(3):485-8.

197. Eichinger S, Weltermann A, Minar E, Stain M, Schonauer V, Schneider B, et al. Symptomatic pulmonary embolism and the risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism. Arch Intern Med. 2004 Jan 12;164(1):92-6.

198. Verso M, Agnelli G, Ageno W, Imberti D, Moia M, Palareti G, et al. Long-term death and recurrence in patients with acute venous thromboembolism: the MASTER registry. Thromb Res. 2012 Sep;130(3):369-73.

199. Palareti G. Recurrent Venous Thromboembolism: What Is the Risk and How to Prevent It. Scientifica. 2012;2012:17.

200. Eichinger S, Heinze G, Jandeck LM, Kyrle PA. Risk assessment of recurrence in patients with unprovoked deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism: the Vienna prediction model. Circulation. 2010 Apr 13;121(14):1630-6.

201. Prandoni P, Lensing AW, Prins MH, Bernardi E, Marchiori A, Bagatella P, et al. Residual venous thrombosis as a predictive factor of recurrent venous thromboembolism. Ann Intern Med. 2002 Dec 17;137(12):955-60.

202. Tan M, Mos IC, Klok FA, Huisman MV. Residual venous thrombosis as predictive factor for recurrent venous thromboembolim in patients with proximal deep vein thrombosis: a sytematic review. British journal of haematology. 2011 Apr;153(2):168-78.

203. Roach RE, Cannegieter SC, Lijfering WM. Differential risks in men and women for first and recurrent venous thrombosis: the role of genes and environment. J Thromb Haemost. 2014 Oct;12(10):1593-600.

204. Rodger MA, Kahn SR, Wells PS, Anderson DA, Chagnon I, Le Gal G, et al. Identifying unprovoked thromboembolism patients at low risk for recurrence who can discontinue anticoagulant therapy. CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne. 2008 Aug 26;179(5):417-26.

205. Colman RW MV, Clowes AW, George JN, Goldhaber SZ. Hemostasis and Thrombosis Basic Principles and Clinical Practice. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins;, 2006.

206. Lee LH, Gallus A, Jindal ÂR, Wang C, Wu C-C. Incidence of Venous Thromboembolism in Asian Populations: A Systematic Review. Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2017;117(12):2243-60.

207. Wendelboe AM, Raskob GE. Global Burden of Thrombosis: Epidemiologic Aspects. Circulation research. 2016 Apr 29;118(9):1340-7.

208. Khan F, Rahman A, Carrier M, Kearon C, Schulman S, Couturaud F, et al. Long-term risk of recurrence after discontinuing anticoagulants for a first unprovoked venous thromboembolism: protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2017;7(9).

209. Kearon C. Long-term management of patients after venous thromboembolism. Circulation. 2004 Aug 31;110(9 Suppl 1):110-8.

210. Heit JA. Epidemiology of venous thromboembolism. Nature reviews Cardiology. 2015 06/16;12(8):464-74.

211. Goldhaber SZ, Visani L, De Rosa M. Acute pulmonary embolism: clinical outcomes in the International Cooperative Pulmonary Embolism Registry (ICOPER). Lancet. 1999 Apr 24;353(9162):1386-9.

212. Piazza G, Goldhaber SZ, Lessard DM, Goldberg RJ, Emery C, Spencer FA. Venous thromboembolism in heart failure: preventable deaths during and after hospitalization. Am J Med. 2011 Mar;124(3):252-9.

213. World Health Organization. The top 10 causes of death -fact sheet. 2017 [cited Accessed March 10, 2018]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310/en/</u>

214. Zöller B, Li X, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Autoimmune diseases and venous thromboembolism: a review of the literature. American Journal of Cardiovascular Disease. 2012 07/25;2(3):171-83.

215. Filip Mejza AUBLAUEN-MAUAU. Arterial and venous thromboembolism in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: from pathogenic mechanisms to prevention and treatment. Arterial and venous thromboembolism in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: from pathogenic mechanisms to prevention and treatment. 2015 Advances in Respiratory Medicine;83(6):485-94--94.

216. Shariff N, Aleem A, Levin V, Desai RV, Nanda S, Martinez MW, et al. Venous thromboembolism in patients with heart failure: in-hospital and chronic use of anti-coagulants for prevention. Recent patents on cardiovascular drug discovery. 2012 Apr;7(1):53-8.

217. Kearon C. Long-term Anticoagulation for Venous Thromboembolism: Duration of Treatment and Management of Warfarin Therapy. Clinics in chest medicine. 2010 2010/12/01/;31(4):719-30.

218. Lijfering WM, Flinterman LE, Vandenbroucke JP, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC. Relationship between venous and arterial thrombosis: a review of the literature from a causal perspective. Seminars in thrombosis and hemostasis. 2011 Nov;37(8):885-96.

219. Mahmoodi BK, Cushman M, Anne Naess I, Allison MA, Bos WJ, Braekkan SK, et al. Association of Traditional Cardiovascular Risk Factors With Venous Thromboembolism: An Individual Participant Data Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. Circulation. 2017 Jan 3;135(1):7-16.

220. Bjori E, Arshad N, Johnsen HS, Hansen JB, Braekkan SK. Hospital-related first venous thromboembolism and risk of recurrence. J Thromb Haemost. 2016 Dec;14(12):2368-75.

221. Choudhury L, Marsh JD. Myocardial infarction in young patients. Am J Med. 1999 Sep;107(3):254-61.

222. Tanis B, Algra A, van der Graaf Y, Helmerhorst F, Rosendaal F. Procoagulant factors and the risk of myocardial infarction in young women. European journal of haematology. 2006 Jul;77(1):67-73.

223. Horvei LD, Grimnes G, Hindberg K, Mathiesen EB, Njolstad I, Wilsgaard T, et al. C-reactive protein, obesity, and the risk of arterial and venous thrombosis. J Thromb Haemost. 2016 Aug;14(8):1561-71.

224. Ørstavik, HK. Why are autoimmune diseases more prevalent in women? Tidsskriftet Den Norske Legeforening. 2017.

225. Tselios K, Gladman DD, Su J, Ace O, Urowitz MB. Evolution of Risk Factors for Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Events in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Longterm Prospective Study. The Journal of Rheumatology. 2017;44(12):1841-9.

226. Leonard D, Svenungsson E, Dahlqvist J, Alexsson A, Arlestig L, Taylor KE, et al. Novel gene variants associated with cardiovascular disease in systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2018 Mar 7.

227. Njolstad I, Arnesen E, Lund-Larsen PG. Smoking, serum lipids, blood pressure, and sex differences in myocardial infarction. A 12-year follow-up of the Finnmark Study. Circulation. 1996 Feb 1;93(3):450-6.

Paper I

Paper II

Paper III

Paper IV

